Gonadal transactivation of STARD1, CYP11A1 and HSD3B

Steven R. King¹, Holly A. LaVoie²

¹Cell Biology and Biochemistry, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center, Lubbock, TX, ²Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy, University of South Carolina School of Medicine, Columbia, SC 29208

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. The STARD1 gene

3.1 Hormonal control

- 3.2 Transactivators
 - 3.2.1. Steroidogenic Factor 1 (SF-1/NR5A1) and Liver Receptor Homologue 1 (LRH-1/NR5A2)
 - 3.2.2. Nur77
 - 3.2.3. GATA family
 - 3.2.4. C/EBPbeta
 - 3.2.5. CREB family
 - 3.2.6. Activator Protein 1 (AP-1)
 - 3.2.7. Intermediaries of oxysterol regulation
- 3.3. Transrepressors
 - 3.3.1. Dosage-sensitive sex reversal, adrenal hypoplasia congenita, critical region on the X chromosome, gene (DAX-1/NR0B1)
 - 3.3.2. Kruppel family
- 3.4. Other mediators of STARD1 transcription
- 4. The CYP11A1 gene
 - 4.1. Hormonal control
 - 4.2 Transactivators
 - 4.2.1. NR5A family
 - 4.2.2. GATA family
 - 4.2.3. Sp family
 - 4.3. Transrepressors
 - 4.4. Other mediators of CYP11A1 transcription
- 5. The HSD3B genes
 - 5.1. Hormonal control
 - 5.2. Transactivators and transrepressors
 - 5.2.1. NR5A family and DAX-1
 - 5.2.2. GATA family
 - 5.3. Other mediators of HSD3B transcription

5.4. The hsd3b6 gene

- 6. General regulation of transactivators and transrepressors
- 7. Summary and Perspective
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

The steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, cytochrome P450 cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme and specific 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta5-delta4 isomerases initiate the essential process of steroidogenesis in the gonads. Testicular and ovarian expression of their respective genes, STARD1, CYP11A1 and gonadal HSD3B, is primarily controlled by gonadotropins with contributions by various growth factors. Gonadotropins through their receptors switch on cyclic AMP signaling pathways that recruit NR5A,

GATA and often CREB, NR4A, or Sp1 transcription factors to regulatory regions of each gene's promoter to The specific combination of elicit transcription. transcription factors involved depends on the cellular In this review, we summarize current context. understanding of the factors that control transactivation of the STARD1, CYP11A1 and gonadal HSD3B genes in Leydig cells in the testis and the theca, differentiating granulosa and luteal cells in the ovary.



Figure 1. Overview of genes coding for mediators of gonadal steroidogenesis. Cholesterol is the substrate for *de novo* steroid synthesis. The STARD1 gene encodes the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein which controls cholesterol delivery to the inner mitochondrial membrane. CYP11A1 encodes the P450 cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme which forms part of the P450scc complex. Genes encoding the enzymes mediating each step are indicated in *italics*. The genes HSD3B, CYP17A1, CYP19A1, HSD17B and SRD5A encode the enzymes 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta5-delta4 isomerase, P450 17alpha-hydroxylase/17,20-lyase, P450 aromatase, 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase and 5alpha-reductase, respectively. Other abbreviations are Preg (pregnenolone) and Prog (progesterone). Dashed arrow indicates most of this enzyme activity is extragonadal. The pathway taken by pregnenolone is species and tissue dependent.

2. INTRODUCTION

Sex steroid hormones such as progesterone, testosterone and estradiol are generated from cholesterol by the gonads and are essential for reproduction (1). The proteins that initiate their synthesis include the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR; encoded by the STARD1 gene), cytochrome P450 cholesterol sidechain cleavage enzyme (P450scc; encoded by the CYP11A1 gene) and 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta5-delta4 isomerases (3beta-HSDs; encoded by HSD3B genes).

Cytochrome P450scc catalyzes the initial conversion of cholesterol to pregnenolone, the precursor to all other steroids. This reaction occurs at the inner mitochondrial membrane and is solely limited by the availability of substrate. Hence, the transport of hydrophobic cholesterol across the aqueous intermembrane space to the inner mitochondrial membrane where the P450scc complex resides is rate limiting. The rate of this transport is controlled by StAR (2,3). Trophic hormones rapidly induce expression of StAR and in turn stimulate cholesterol transfer to P450scc and thus, steroidogenesis.

Pregnenolone is next metabolized to progesterone by select 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta5delta4 isomerases (4). Specific steroidogenic cell types alternatively convert pregnenolone to 17alphahydroxyprogesterone by cytochrome P450 17alphahydroxylase/17,20-lyase (P450c17alpha) prior to the actions of 3beta-HSD. Progesterone and products further downstream of the P450c17alpha reaction, testosterone and estrogens, comprise the major sex steroid hormones in mammals. A summary of the gonadal steroidogenic pathways is shown in Figure 1.

Adult Leydig cells in the interstitium of the testis rapidly generate testosterone in response to stimulation by

the pituitary gonadotropin, luteinizing hormone (LH), and its consequent generation of StAR (5,6). Ovarian theca cells in the outer layer of the pre-surge developing follicle express STARD1, CYP11A1 and HSD3B genes and generate androgens in response to LH. These steroids filter across the basement membrane to granulosa cells where the follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) regulated enzyme, cytochrome P450 aromatase, converts them to estrogens. With ovulation, both cell types luteinize in forming the corpus luteum, with increased transcription of STARD1, CYP11A1 and HSD3B and a new focus on progesterone production to support pregnancy (7).

Since steroid hormones are secreted upon synthesis rather than stored, the expression of these genes is a key regulatory point in steroidogenesis. This article briefly reviews the transcriptional regulation of STARD1, CYP11A1 and HSD3B in the primary steroidogenic cell types in the gonads.

3. THE STARD1 GENE

3.1. Hormonal control

Hormonal control of StAR mRNA levels largely determines the level of gonadal steroid synthesis. The major regulator of STARD1 in Leydig cells is LH through stimulation of the cAMP pathway. This effect is mimicked by human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), which also binds and activates the LH receptor. Growth factors such as insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), epidermal growth factor (EGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and transforming growth factor alpha (TGFalpha), also increase STARD1 mRNA in Leydig cells in part through protein kinase C (PKC) signaling (8), an effect mimicked by phorbol esters (9). While gonadotropins and cAMP analogs positively regulate STARD1 by themselves, many factors often only serve to augment or inhibit gonadotropin stimulation of the gene (8,10-12). Additionally, steroids may exert effects on STARD1. Glucocorticoids for

	Leydig Cells			Granulosa/Luteal Cells			
Factor	STARD1	CYP11A1	HSD3B	STARD1	CYP11A1	HSD3B	References
Gonadotropins							
LH/hCG	+	+	+	+	+	+	(22,120-122,129,155,177,178)
FSH				+	+	+	(34,35,125,179-182)
Growth Factors							
IGF-1	+	+		+	+	+	(8,10,11,22,146,179,183-185)
IGF-2				+			(184)
Insulin		+		+	+		(177,183,184,186)
EGF	+			-	+		(8,187,188)
FGF	+						(8)
Amphiregulin				+	+	+	(189)
GDF-9				+/-	-		(190-192)
Steroids							
Glucocorticoid	-	-	-				(119,193)
Progesterone	+				+		(194,195)
Testosterone			-				(119,196)
Cytokines							
TNFalpha	-	-	-	-	-		(197-203)
LIF	-						(204)
Interferon gamma	-	-		-			(205-207)
TGFbeta				+/-	+/-	+/-	(208-210)
TGFalpha	+	+					(8,118)
IL-1	+	-	-				(8,202,211)
BMP-2				-		-	(212,213)
BMP-4 and -6				-	-	-	(212-215)
BMP-5				-			(216)
BMP-7				-			(213,217)
BMP-15 ¹				-	-	-	(218)
Others							
Activin A	+			-	+/-	-	(192,219,220)
Leptin ²	-	-		+/-			(92,221)
GnRH I/II	+	+	+				(222)
PGF2alpha				-	-	-	(23,28,105,223,224)
PGE2				+	+	+	(225)
Thyroid hormone	+/-	+					(226,227)
Prolactin ^{2,3}	+/-				+	+/-	(131,228)

 Table 1. Hormones and growth factors regulating the STARD1, CYP11A1, and HSD3B genes in Leydig, granulosa and luteal cells

LH/hCG: Luteinizing hormone/human chorionic gonadotropin, FSH: follicle-stimulating hormone, IGF: insulin-like growth factor, EGF: epidermal growth factor, FGF: fibroblast growth factor, GDF-9: growth and differentiation factor-9, TNF: tumor necrosis factor, LIF: leukemia inhibitory factor, IL-1: interleukin 1, BMP: bone morphogenic protein, PGF2: prostaglandin F2, PGE2: prostaglandin E2, ¹BMP-15 repression most likely due to its suppression of FSH receptor, ²Responses in ovarian cells are dose-dependent, ³Responses in Leydig cells may be due to alteration of LH receptor

instance utilize the glucocorticoid receptor to suppress steroid production and STARD1 expression by rat progenitor Leydig cells (13). Table 1 presents a summary of regulators of Leydig cell STARD1.

Rat and human Sertoli cells in the testis also express low levels of STARD1 mRNA (14,15), which can be increased by cAMP and FSH (14,16) and decreased by interleukin 1beta (IL-1beta) (17). Since there is no detectable P450scc basally, the role of StAR in this cell type is unclear.

As with Leydig cells, LH and mimetics like hCG and cAMP analogs induce STARD1 gene expression in steroidogenic cell types in the ovary (18-24). Known regulators of STARD1 in theca cells include LH (20,21), stem cell factor (SCF) in combination with IGF-1 (25), and insulin alone or in combination with LH (21).

In general, the granulosa cell layers do not express StAR until the LH surge and the protein is maintained in corpus lutea (18,19,26,27). Unlike Leydig cells, activation of PKC by factors like prostaglandin

F2alpha (PGF2alpha) or phorbol esters in luteal cells decreases STARD1 mRNA levels (23,28). In some granulosa cell culture models, phorbol ester can either stimulate or inhibit STARD1 expression (29,30). However, phorbol ester in combination with the adenylyl cyclase agonist forskolin mimics LH stimulation of granulosa cells from rat preovulatory follicles to increase STARD1 mRNA (31). Vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) which activates both PKA and PKC pathways also robustly stimulates STARD1 mRNA levels in immortalized KK1 and primary mouse granulosa cells (32). As in Leydig cells, some hormones only serve to augment the action of other hormones. For example, in granulosa neuregulin increases amphiregulin induction of STARD1 but has no activity by itself (33).

Known regulators of STARD1 in granulosa and luteal cells are summarized in Table 1. Note that most of the studies have been performed in culture, where granulosa cells in particular have a wide variety of phenotypes, ranging from less differentiated to advanced luteinized cells. This fact is especially relevant to studies of FSH in cultured granulosa. While it is widely accepted that endogenous FSH does not stimulate STARD1 *in vivo*, it does so in primary cultures by mimicking LH activation of the cAMP-signaling pathway (18,19,34,35).

3.2. Transactivators

The proximal 5'-flanking region of the STARD1 gene has a high degree of homology between species with the first 100 bp upstream of the transcriptional start site of human exhibiting 87%, 86%, 84%, and 80-82% with pig, cow, sheep, and rodents, respectively (36). Research on the STARD1 gene reveals that key regulatory elements of the promoter reside between -119 to -58 bp relative to the transcription start site (36). Numerous transcription factors including CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta (C/EBPbeta), NR5A, NR4A and cAMP-response binding protein (CREB) family members affect gene transactivation within this proximal region. Other important elements lie considerably more distant.

3.2.1. Steroidogenic Factor 1 (SF-1/NR5A1) and Liver Receptor Homologue 1 (LRH-1/NR5A2)

Members of the NR5A family represented by SF-1 and LRH-1 are essential regulators of steroidogenic tissue development and function, including through their effects on STARD1 expression. The human STARD1 promoter contains NR5A-binding sites at -105 to -95, -42 to -35 and -926 to -918 (37). One or more sites are required for maximal basal and/or cAMP-stimulated promoter activity in Leydig and luteinized granulosa cells in culture (37-41). Mutation of the homologous -105 to -95 site or a unique site at -137 to -132 in the mouse slashes basal and EGFstimulated responses in Leydig cells (12). The proximal NR5A sites do not participate in STARD1 promoter activity in less differentiated granulosa cells (35,40,42), but gain this function with luteinization. Correspondingly, mutagenesis of the -105 to -95 element reduces promoter activity in granulosa-luteal cells (40). Recently, three additional functional NR5A recognition elements were identified between -3400 to -3000 bp in the human promoter which may be relevant at least in granulosa cells (43).

Gonadal regulation of STARD1 from the NR5A elements often involves SF-1 (44,45). Global deletion of SF-1 ablates StAR expression in the murine testes (46). Studies in mouse Leydig tumor cell lines collectively indicate that overexpression of SF-1 increases STARD1 promoter basal transcriptional activity as well as responses to cAMP analog alone or in the presence of IGF-1 (10,47).

The contribution of fellow NR5A member LRH-1 in STARD1 regulation is yet to be fully discerned. Separate studies indicate that an ovulatory stimulus of hCG in wild-type mice recruits SF-1 (47) and/or LRH-1 (48) to the endogenous STARD1 promoter in ovarian tissue. In general, the specific NR5A family member that binds to the STARD1 promoter may change according to tissue type and differentiation state of the cell. Like SF-1, LRH-1 transactivates the STARD1 promoter in clonal and human granulosa tumor cells, likely through the -105 to -95 site (49,50). Targeted loss of LRH-1 in granulosa cells disrupts STARD1 mRNA levels and progesterone production in hCG-treated transgenic mice, causing a failure to ovulate (48). In the corpus luteum, LRH-1 expression exceeds that of SF-1 (51-53), suggesting luteal STARD1 transcription is likely regulated by LRH-1. Indeed, LH increases the association of LRH-1 with the bovine STAR promoter in luteal cells (54).

3.2.2. Nur77

The STARD1 promoter contains an NR4A or NGFI-B response element (NBRE), that coincides with the -105 to -95 NR5A site (55). This element is bound by the most abundant NR4A protein in steroidogenic cells, Nur77 (NGFI-B/NR4A1) and cAMP stimulation of Leydig cells recruits Nur77 to the portion of the STARD1 promoter containing this element (55).

Expression of Nur77 activates the murine STARD1 promoter to various degrees in Leydig tumor cells (55-57). Stimulation of second messenger pathways utilized by LH upregulates Nur77 in rodent primary Leydig cells and Leydig tumor cells (55,58) but not SF-1. These data raise the question: are the effects of cAMP and EGF on this promoter element actually due to Nur77 and not SF-1 (12,55)? One clue is provided by Martin and Tremblay who found that mutation of the NBRE/NR5A site specifically decreases stimulation by Nur77 in MA-10 cells, while mutation of the other NR5A sites solely affects SF-1-mediated transactivation (59). They further found that suppression of cAMP stimulation by dexamethasone may involve loss of binding of the -95 site by Nur77, not SF-1 as indicated by promoter and chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays (60).

While Nur77 may displace NR5A protein binding to the NRBE, SF-1 can act at the other NR4A-binding sites to additively increase STARD1 gene expression in Leydig cells (59). At the same time however, Nur77 can potentially interfere with SF-1 transactivation by promoting the expression of the SF-1 repressor protein, gonadotropininducible ovarian transcription factor-1 (GIOT-1) (61). Transactivation of the murine gene by Nur77 is itself sensitive to inhibition by androgen receptor corepressor-19 kDa (ARR19) (62).

Nur77 and other NR4A proteins are also reported in cAMP and phorbol ester-stimulated human granulosa tumor cells, human corpora lutea and rat granulosa cells in post-surge preovulatory follicles (63-65). Like StAR, Nur77 is responsive to cAMP-stimulation in theca cells (66). Androgen and STARD1 mRNA production in human theca cells increases with Nur77 overexpression and declines with reduced endogenous Nur77 levels (66). However, existing data in ovarian cells support SF-1 activation of the STARD1 promoter through the proximal site rather than Nur77 (45,63).

3.2.3. GATA family

Recombinant GATA4 and GATA6 bind a highly conserved GATA recognition motif in the STARD1 promoter, located at -63 to -58 in the human and -66 to -61 in the mouse (36). Both proteins are expressed in somatic steroidogenic cells of the ovary and testis where they can influence StAR expression (67). The GATA site contributes to maximal responsiveness of the murine promoter to cAMP in MA-10 Leydig tumor cells (39), FSH in cultured granulosa cells (35,42) and EGF in the mouse Leydig tumor cell line mLTC-1 as well as basal activity (12). Further studies in a heterologous cell line indicate that GATA6-driven STARD1 promoter activity synergizes with SF-1 and is vulnerable to DAX-1 repression (68).

Treatment of MA-10 cells with cAMP analog recruits GATA4 to the endogenous STARD1 proximal promoter (47). There, GATA4 can increase murine STARD1 promoter activity by itself and augment stimulation by cAMP analog or cAMP analog and IGF-1 as shown in mLTC-1 cells (10,69). Co-expression with the homeobox transcription factor distal-less homeobox 5 (Dlx5) further enhances GATA4-mediated transactivation (69).

Similarly, both exogenous GATA4 and GATA6 can increase porcine STARD1 promoter activity in granulosa cells through a -70 to -64 GATA site (42,70). Granulosa cells collected from mouse periovulatory follicles following an ovulatory dose of hCG display increased association of GATA4 with the proximal promoter simultaneous to the induction of STARD1 expression (47). Luteinization sees GATA4 levels decline in vivo (70-73). The persistence of GATA6 expression suggests that GATA6 takes over for GATA4 in promoting STARD1 gene transcription in luteal cells. Interestingly, reduction of GATA4 levels in luteinizing porcine granulosa cells increases the level of cAMP-stimulated STARD1 mRNA, but not when GATA6 is also lowered (74). These data together indicate that the GATA family member that drives the STARD1 promoter changes with differentiation and that GATA6 may be a more potent inducer of STARD1 expression.

3.2.4. C/EBPbeta

The proximal STARD1 promoter harbors a highly conserved C/EBP recognition sequence located at - 119 to -110 in the human, denoted C1 in the mouse (36). Other more proximal sites exist that vary in location, number and sequence by species. For instance, the human gene possesses a C/EBP-binding site at -50 to -41 (75), whereas a -58 to -49 site in the porcine promoter which is conserved in ruminants is recognized by C/EBPbeta in porcine granulosa cell nuclear extracts (42).

Mutational analysis of C1 and a second downstream C/EBP site, C2 in cAMP analog-stimulated MA-10 cells and C1 in EGF-stimulated mLTC-1 cells indicate that C/EBP proteins do not drive the cAMPresponsiveness of the promoter, but rather increase the size of basal and stimulated transactivation by other factors (12,76). In fact, exogenous expression of C/EBPbeta in mLTC-1 cells solely alters the magnitude, not the relative response of promoter activity to cAMP analog with or without IGF-1 (10) and the level of C/EBPbeta found at the endogenous STARD1 promoter in MA-10 cells is unchanged by stimulation with a cAMP analog (47).

For periovulatory granulosa cells in the mouse,

C/EBPbeta is recruited to the endogenous proximal promoter upon initiation of differentiation to a luteal cell phenotype via stimulation of the cAMP pathway, such as by hCG administration *in vivo* (47). Targeted deletion of both C/EBPalpha and beta in granulosa cells of mice drastically reduces STARD1 induction by combined forskolin and phorbol ester in culture (77). Mutagenesis studies indicate that basal promoter activity with luteinization using rat granulosa-luteal cells partly relies on the C1 site (40). Both C/EBP elements in human luteinized granulosa cells are essential for maximal basal and cAMPstimulated STARD1 promoter activity but dispensable for the fold-response to cAMP (75).

Current models suggest that C/EBPbeta may complement or recruit SF-1 at the STARD1 promoter, possibly through physical interactions as indicated by *in vitro* studies (76). Promoter assays in a heterologous epithelial-like cell line indicate that SF-1-mediated transactivation of the murine promoter requires both C1 and C2 (76).

Studies using porcine granulosa cells indicate that C/EBPbeta, may also coordinately work with GATA proteins. The magnitude of porcine promoter activity in response to FSH with or without IGF-1 in this cell type relies on a proximal C/EBP site in conjunction with the neighboring GATA element (42). Overexpression studies in porcine granulosa and clonal cell types reveal cooperation between C/EBPbeta and GATA4 to elicit STARD1 promoter activity (42,73). A physical interaction between the proteins is described in MA-10 cells (78). Altogether, the data draw the picture of a transcription factor that supports basal and stimulated STARD1 gene expression in coordination with NR5A and GATA factors.

3.2.5. CREB family

The sensitivity of the STARD1 promoter to cAMP is partly due to the presence of cAMP-response element (CRE) half-sites. Three half-sites, referred to as CRE1, CRE2 and CRE3, populate the -110 to -67 region of the murine promoter (79) and are recognized by CRE-binding proteins (CREB) (80). Of these sites, the -81 to -78 CRE2 contributes the most to cAMP-responsiveness of the promoter in MA-10 cells (41,80).

This region is important for the STARD1 promoter response to FSH in rat granulosa cells (35). While CRE2 encompasses a rodent-specific -81 to -72 C/EBP element (C3) (35), selective nucleotide mutagenesis points to CREB not a C/EBP protein as the crucial factor involved in this region (40). While CREB family member CRE modulator CREM-tau can mimic the action of CREB, current evidence indicates that CREB is the family member that binds CRE2, perhaps as a heterodimer with activating transcription factor ATF-1 (80,81).

The binding of CREB to this region is apparently cell-type specific, owing to a one base-pair overlap of CRE2 with C2 characterized in ChIP assays with MA-10 and preovulatory granulosa cells purified from hCG-treated mice (47). Upon cAMP stimulus of MA-10 cells, the level of CREB/CREM but not C/EBPbeta associated with the proximal promoter increases within 30 minutes. A separate study suggests that only phosphorylated not total CREB increases (81). For granulosa cells, the concentration of C/EBPbeta associated with this region increases within one hour of hCG (47). Association of CREB with the proximal promoter rises after a delay, suggesting C/EBPbeta binding to C2 is more relevant in this cell type.

As suggested by these studies, exogenous expression of CREB in MA-10 cells elevates basal activity as well as the size and fold of the response to cAMP analog of the murine promoter; inhibitors of CREB as well as a nonphosphorylatable CREB blunt promoter activation (41,80). Results in steroidogenic adrenocortical cells indicate that longer term stimulation of STARD1 could involve unphosphorylated CREB complexed with transducer of regulated CREB activity (TORC) (82). On the other hand, the high basal promoter activity observed in more differentiated rodent granulosa-luteal cells is immune to CREB inhibition (40).

Like C/EBPbeta, CREB cooperates with other transcription factors to promote STARD1 expression. CREB and SF-1 additively increase cAMP-stimulated promoter activity in MA-10 cells (41). Combinations of mutations of SF-1 and CRE sites or of the shared base between CRE1 and the overlapping SF-1 site reduce basal and cAMP analog-induced activity (80). GATA4 and CREB also cooperate through CRE2 as demonstrated by mutational analysis (35,40).

3.2.6. Activator Protein 1 (AP-1)

The effects on STARD1 by AP-1 Jun and Fos related proteins are apparently limited to rodents through a conserved order-specific AP-1-binding or TPA response element (TRE) at -81 to -75 (83,84). Steroidogenic stimuli such as phorbol ester (*e.g.*, phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA)), cAMP analog, hCG and to some extent, EGF elevate levels of c-Fos and Jun proteins in Leydig and MA-10 cells (85,86). Fos and Jun proteins bind the TRE in nuclear extracts from cAMP analog-stimulated MA-10 cells (83).

Basal promoter activity in various Leydig tumor cell lines is enhanced by Jun proteins and FosB and generally inhibited by Fos-related antigen (Fra) 1 and Fra-2 (83,84). c-Fos may slightly elevate or inhibit activity in a dose-dependent manner (12,59,83,84). The most potent AP-1 factor is c-Jun, whose loss ablates basal promoter activity (10,83).

Stimulation by EGF is largely independent of c-Jun and JunD but is attenuated by c-Fos and Fra-1 (12). However, c-Jun increases PMA-stimulated promoter activity (86). FosB and c-Jun proteins elevate cAMPinduced promoter activity in transfected Leydig tumor cells while c-Fos, Fra1 and Fra2 are inhibitory (10,83,84). A dominant negative c-Jun dampens stimulation by cAMP analog or PMA (10,86). The level of phosphorylated c-Jun affiliated with the promoter increases with either treatment (81,84,86). Similarly, the levels of c-Fos and phosphorylated c-Fos protein as well as the amount of phosphorylated c-Fos at the proximal promoter rise with cAMP stimulation (84).

Characterization of the roles of AP-1 proteins and CREB in the mouse is complicated by the complete overlap of the TRE and CRE2 sites. Unlike CREB, AP-1 factors help determine the size of the cAMP response but not the response itself. Indeed, both basal and stimulated promoter activity generally decline with mutation of CRE2/TRE (12,39,76,81,83). However, binding to the endogenous promoter by AP-1 and CREB with cAMP stimulation changes over time as observed in MA-10 cells (84). At first, levels of phosphorylated c-Jun, c-Fos and CREB associated with the region encompassing the CRE2/TRE site increase. Later, these levels of phosphorylated c-Jun and c-Fos decline, while phosphorylated CREB remains high (84).

c-Jun also interacts with other transcription factors, enhancing for example promoter transactivation by NR5A proteins through the proximal -45 SF-1 element in MA-10 cells (59). c-Jun increases promoter stimulation by Nur77 even when the CRE2/TRE site is mutated, indicating that it recognizes a second site in the promoter or directly interacts with the NR4A factor (59).

Interestingly, co-expression of CREB and c-Jun or c-Fos blunts increases in basal and cAMP-stimulated activity elicited by either factor alone (84). One explanation is that the formation of transactivating complexes is disrupted by the competition of AP-1 proteins and CREB for the restricted amounts of the cofactor CREB-binding protein (CBP) (81,84).

Unlike Leydig cells, the murine CRE2/TRE element may solely be bound by CREB in rat granulosa cells. Differentiation to a luteal cell phenotype is accompanied by a change in the transcription factor binding to this site, where Fra-2 now displaces CREB to foster cAMP-independent transcription (40). Furthermore, promoter activity is suppressed by a dominant negative form of Fra2/Fos in luteal cells but not in less differentiated granulosa cells.

3.2.7. Intermediaries of oxysterol regulation

Oxysterols play an integral role in StAR regulation as observed in several cell types (87-89). It may partly involve sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP) family transcription factors which are activated under conditions of sterol depletion and promote the synthesis of sterol biosynthetic and lipogenic enzymes. Surprisingly, overproduction of SREBP-1a, SREBP-1c and variably SREBP-2 drives production of sterol-depleting STARD1 mRNA in human granulosa-derived or heterologous cells (87,90-93). In vitro studies indicate this upregulation at least for SREBP1a is realized through an SRE corresponding to -81 to -70 in the human that overlaps the C3 site in the rodent (90,91). Exogenous expression of SREBP1 augments cAMP analog stimulation (10). Mutation of a putative more proximal SRE immediately downstream of the GATA site in the murine promoter decreases basal and EGF-stimulated activity in mLTC-1

cells (12). Nuclear transcription factor Y (NF-Y) and SF-1 enhance recognition of a distal -740 to -731 SRE in the rat by SREBP-1 *in vitro* and promoter activity evoked by SREBP-1a in nonsteroidogenic cells (93).

Importantly though, endogenous SREBP has not been shown to increase STARD1 gene expression under the low sterol conditions that promote SREBP cleavage and translocation to the nucleus. Conversely, the presence of high levels of oxysterols, which inhibit SREBP activation, increases STARD1 mRNA levels in MA-10 cells (88). Thus, the involvement of SREBP proteins in transactivation of the STARD1 gene remains unclear.

The role of oxysterols may be more complicated. Not only does StAR transfer cholesterol for pregnenolone production into the mitochondria, but it similarly elicits the production of the liver X receptor (LXR) ligand 27hydroxycholesterol (87,94) by a resident mitochondrial hydroxylase. StAR-dependent 27-hydroxycholesterol generation offers a means of feedback regulation through the activation of LXR (95).

The mouse promoter harbors an LXR response element (LXRE) at -200 to -185 (96,97). Disruption of LXRalpha/beta expression in null mice or by RNAi in an adrenocortical cell line increases STARD1 mRNA levels (96,97). On the other hand, the promoter responds positively to LXR expression in co-transfection experiments in nonsteroidogenic cells (97) and STARD1 and SREBP1c rise with LXR agonist in the murine ovary and testis but not in LXRalpha/beta null mice (98,99). The accompanying rise of SREBP1c points to a potential explanation for the results of the overexpression SREBP studies. Notably, 27hydroxycholesterol, which inhibits SREBP-regulated LDL receptor promoter activity, has no effect on STARD1 promoter activity in human granulosa-derived and heterologous cells cultured in delipidated media (90). Thus, LXR control of STARD1 expression appears to be mulitfactorial, perhaps involving heterodimer formation with retinoid X receptor (RXR) alpha (97). Indeed, retinoids upregulate STARD1 mRNA and promoter activity in K28 Leydig cells (100) and human theca cells (101). Whether LXR binds the promoter in the context of gonadal cells has not been determined, although LXRalpha has been shown to associate with the promoter in the adrenal (97).

3.3. Transrepressors

3.3.1. Dosage-sensitive sex reversal, adrenal hypoplasia congenita, critical region on the X chromosome, gene 1 (DAX-1/NR0B1)

The actions of SF-1 in steroidogenic tissues is opposed by DAX-1 (102). Rat R2C Leydig tumor cells maintain low levels of DAX-1 and consequently express robust levels of StAR and steroid (103). Exogenous expression of DAX-1 suppresses StAR and steroidogenesis in R2C cells as well as basal and forskolin-activated promoter activity and endogenous STARD1 gene expression in other clonal cell lines (102-105). Furthermore, DAX-1 suppresses the activation of the STARD1 promoter by Nur77 and NR5A proteins in various gonadal cell lines (50,56,106). Silencing of its expression via RNAi increases basal and cAMP analog and phorbol ester-stimulated StAR and steroid production in MA-10 cells (56).

Although a nuclear receptor, DAX-1 does not recognize a specific DNA sequence; it may instead act by binding DNA hairpin structures. Hairpins in the STARD1 promoter may form within -61 to -27 for the human (102) and -44 to -20 in mouse (56). Murine STARD1 expression is inhibited by binding of the hairpin by DAX-1 in MA-10 cells as indicated by ChIP and *in vitro* DNA binding assays (56). Other studies insist that DAX-1 represses Nur77, SF-1 and LRH-1 via uncharacterized direct protein-protein interactions (107,108).

Inhibitors of steroidogenesis may act through DAX-1. In the rat ovary, a luteolytic factor and inhibitor of luteal steroid production, PGF2alpha, simultaneously increases DAX-1 while decreasing STARD1 mRNA (105). Conversely, steroidogenic activators antagonize DAX-1 expression. Stimulation of the promoter by cAMP analog or phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate is linked to reduced DAX-1 association with the STARD1 promoter and increased promoter activity in MA-10 cells (56).

This said, controversial evidence exists for a coactivator function for DAX-1 on SF-1 activity in MA-10 cells. Here, basal STARD1 transcription may rely on DAX-1 at least in part through recruitment of steroid receptor RNA activator (SRA) (109).

3.3.2. Kruppel family

The pleiotropic GLI-Kruppel family member Yin Yang-1 (YY1) associates with a site -1382 to -1193 bp upstream of the transcription start site and inhibits rat promoter activity in rat luteal cells (110). In the rat ovary, PGF2alpha increases YY1 levels, promotes YY1 binding to the upstream site and likely YY1-associated recruitment of histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1), coinciding with a sharp decline in STARD1 mRNA (91,105,110). Silencing of YY1 expression blocks the effect of PGF2alpha on STARD1 expression (110).

This transcription factor also inhibits SREBP-1a binding and activation in clonal cells (91), possibly independent of a direct interaction between the two proteins (110). In the human promoter, the proximal SREs overlap a nonconserved YY1 binding site that lies within -90 to -65 (90). Accordingly, SREBP-1a-sponsored promoter activity in clonal cells is enhanced by selective YY1 site mutations (90).

Promoter activity is further suppressed by other Kruppel-like factors (KLFs), specifically KLF4, 9 and 13, in luteinized porcine granulosa cells (111). At the same time, endogenous STARD1 mRNA levels are elevated by lentiviral expression of KLF13 in these cells, making the role of KLF13 a target for future investigation.

3.4. Other mediators of STARD1 transcription

The regulation of the STARD1 gene includes many other components. The ubiquitous transcription

factor Sp1 stimulates human promoter activity in coordination with SF-1 in a steroidogenic cell line (112) and murine promoter activity in the absence or presence of a cAMP analog in mLTC-1 cells (10). Additionally, mutation of the murine -146 to -137 Sp1 site cuts the size of basal activity and the response to EGF in Leydig cells (12). Other positive regulators include NF-Y in clonal cells (91), beta-catenin in coordination with LRH-1 in bovine luteal cells (54) and PPARgamma agonist in MA-10 Leydig cells and KK1 immortalized granulosa cells (113).

A second Sp family member, Sp3, alternatively utilizes the -180 and -150 bp region to recruit HDACs and repress basal murine promoter activity in MA-10 cells (114). Ovarian factor forkhead transcription factor L2 (FOXL2) also represses STARD1 transactivation through an element within the first -95 bp of the human promoter (115) following sumoylation (116). FOXO1 is also implicated in tonic inhibition of StAR and progesterone production by rodent granulosa cells prior to the LH surge (117).

4. THE CYP11A1 GENE

4.1. Hormonal control

As with STARD1, CYP11A1 gene expression is primarily regulated by gonadotropins in gonadal steroidogenic cells. A summary of the positive and negative regulators of CYP11A1 mRNA levels in Leydig, granulosa and luteal cells appears in Table 1. Some differences in CYP11A1 expression are observed between immature and mature Leydig cells. Immature Leydig cells generate more CYP11A1 mRNA in response to TGFalpha in the rat (118), whereas mature cells possess high basal levels of CYP11A1 mRNA that rise at a slower pace in response to cAMP than STARD1 (119-122). In contrast to STARD1, CYP11A1 is basally absent in Sertoli cells, but does appear in immature cells with chronic FSH or cAMP analog treatment (16).

Growth hormone augments IGF-1 stimulation of CYP11A1 in porcine granulosa cells but has no effect alone (123). Theca cell expression of CYP11A1 mRNA is regulated by LH, appearing with antrum formation and increasing during follicular development (18,19,26,124-126). CYP11A1 promoter activity is further upregulated by IGF-1 in rat theca cells and mRNA levels are opposed by BMP-4, -6 and -7 in bovine theca cells (25,126,127). CYP11A1 expression is also stymied by GDF-9 in bovine theca cells (128).

Levels of CYP11A1 rise with the ovulatory LH surge in granulosa and theca cells. In primates the corpus luteum of the menstrual cycle also depends on LH (129). On the other hand during pregnancy, continued expression of CYP11A1 mRNA levels in luteal cells depends on rescue of the corpus luteum by species-specific luteotrophic factors including hCG in humans and prolactin in rodents (130,131). Once induced in the pregnant rat, luteal CYP11A1 is constitutively expressed (125).

4.2. Transactivators

The upstream 4.4 kb of the human gene is sufficient to replicate the pattern of endogenous expression in transgenic mice, albeit incompletely in granulosa cells (132). Responsiveness to steroidogenic stimuli is primarily determined by elements within the first 120 bp (36,133). This first 95 bp upstream of the transcriptional start site of human shares approximately 72%, 72%, 68%, 68%, and 64% with the corresponding sheep, pig, cow, mouse, and rat regions, respectively, with conserved NR5A and Sp1 sites (36).

4.2.1. NR5A family

A NR5A binding element appears within -50 to -43 (SCC1) in the rat and -46 to -38 in the human that recognizes recombinant LRH-1 and SF-1 in granulosa and luteal cell extracts (134,135). Studies using transgenic mice that express a lacZ fusion gene under the control of the human promoter indicate that CYP11A1 expression relies on this proximal NR5A site (136). Further such studies suggest that testicular expression of human CYP11A1 also requires another element that is unconserved and lies within an upstream cAMP-responsive sequence at -1617 to -1609 (136). Basal and cAMPinspired bovine promoter activity in luteal cells involves an NR5A site lying within -57 to -32 (137,138).

Murine generation of CYP11A1 is less dependent on the proximal NR5A-binding element. While in vitro studies with granulosa cells suggest that forskolinstimulated rat promoter activity partially relies on SCC1 (134), loss of the site in the endogenous gene in the mouse principally results in reduced steroidogenesis in the testes and adrenal without discernable effects on the ovary or reproduction (139). A second site at -79 to -71 (SCC2) appears to be uninvolved. Mutation of both sites reduces basal activity with little effect on the cAMP-stimulated response in MA-10 cells (140). However, CYP11A1 expression is reliant on NR5A proteins through some mechanism, as cvtochrome P450scc content is reduced in testes from SF-1-knockout mice and targeted deletion of LRH-1 in granulosa cells sharply lowers CYP11A1 mRNA levels in hCG-treated mice (46,48). Correspondingly, mRNA levels are responsive to SF-1 overexpression in bovine theca cells as is rat promoter activity in K28 cells (57,141). Human promoter activity is similarly affected by SF-1 and LRH-1 in granulosa and heterologous cells (49,63,135).

4.2.2. GATA family

Studies on the role of GATA proteins on CYP11A1 gene expression are still in their infancy. Several putative GATA sites are identifiable *in silico* in the first 1000 bp of the CYP11A1 promoter in the human, cow, pig and rodents with the number and location of the sites being unconserved (data not shown). A site between -475 to -470 in the murine promoter recognizes GATA4 using nuclear extracts of rat granulosa cells and mediates FSH stimulation of the promoter (142). Silencing of GATA4 and GATA6 by RNAi modestly lifts basal CYP11A1 mRNA levels in luteinizing porcine granulosa cells with no effect on its

response to cAMP, suggesting GATA is not important for the cAMP-responsiveness of the CYP11A1 gene in this context (74). Overexpression of either GATA protein can drive human promoter activity in nongonadal cell lines (68,143,144).

4.2.3. Sp family

A G-rich stretch in the proximal promoter harbors at least one Sp1 site. In the bovine promoter, Sp1 and/or Sp3 bind the -118 to -100 region in luteal nuclear extracts (138,145). Basal and cAMP-stimulated promoter activity in luteal cells relies on cooperation between this region and the proximal NR5A site as indicated by mutagenesis studies (138).

An IGF-1 response element (IGFRE) that contains a functional Sp1-binding site lies within -130 to -100 of the porcine promoter. Forskolin and IGF-1 drive promoter activity in porcine granulosa cells through this IGFRE (146). The 3'-end of the element recognizes Sp1 while the 5' end binds polypyrimidine tract-binding protein-associated splicing factor (PSF) (147). Basal promoter activity in granulosa cells is elevated by Sp1 and decreased by PSF, which also opposes Sp1 induction (147,148). The ability of IGF-1 to drive porcine promoter activity in steroidogenic Y1 adrenocortical cells is reliant on exogenous expression of Sp1 or mutation of the PSF-binding site (147).

4.3. Transrepressors

Endogenous gene expression and forskolinstimulated human promoter activity in Y1 cells are opposed by DAX-1 (104). This factor further stymies human promoter activation by LRH-1 in granulosa cells as well as by GATA6 and SF-1 in nonsteroidogenic cells (68,135). However, evidence surprisingly exists for a basal coactivator role for DAX-1 in MA-10 cells (109). Basal promoter activity and endogenous mRNA levels are reduced as well by KLF13 overexpression in luteinized porcine granulosa cells (111). KLF4 and 9 have similar effects on the CYP11A1 promoter. As with STARD1, FOXO1 may also repress CYP11A1 expression in rodent granulosa cells prior to the LH surge (117).

4.4. Other mediators of CYP11A1 transcription

Reduction of Nur77 levels reduces CYP11A1 mRNA levels in human theca cells while increased expression elevates them (66). Rat CYP11A1 gene expression is increased by Nur77 in K28 cells, but the protein has little effect on promoter activity in human granulosa tumor cells (57,63). A multi-functional CRE half-site exists at -450 to -447, which like the murine STARD1 CRE2/AP-1 site, binds CREB-1 in less differentiated rat granulosa cells and Fra-2 with more differentiation (142).

Conflicting data from cell culture and knockout mouse models muddy current understanding of LXR involvement in CYP11A1 gene transcription (96,97). Ovarian but not testicular CYP11A1 mRNA levels rise in response to LXR agonist for the mouse (98,99), but ovarian hyperstimulation in LXRalpha/beta null mice causes abnormally high mRNA levels and cyst formation in ovaries, suggesting LXR restrains CYP11A1 gene expression (98).

Select retinoids stimulate gene expression and promoter activity in human theca cells through a putative retinoic acid receptor binding element (RARE) (101), or heterodimerization with known existing regulators such as LXR. Further elements that specify expression in Leydig cells may lie within -2.5 to -5 kb in the mouse promoter (5).

5. THE HSD3B GENES

5.1. Hormonal control

While many species possess several genes encoding for 3beta-HSD, the protein generated in gonadal steroidogenic cells generally arises from the HSD3B2 gene in humans and HSD3B1 in other species -- collectively referred to herein as HSD3B (4,149). The mouse and human HSD3B promoters bear little similarity, while those of many species remain uncharacterized, making progress on the study of its regulation more difficult. The gene is expressed in Leydig cells, the theca in developing follicles, luteal cells and late follicular phase granulosa cells, except in the bovine where expression is observed in granulosa developmentally earlier (5,150-152). LH is a major regulator of HSD3B and is mimicked by cAMP-signaling agonists (119,129,153-159). Many other factors affect 3beta-HSD protein levels or enzymatic activity in gonadal cells, however, in most cases their effects on HSD3B mRNA have not yet been examined (4). Glucocorticoid receptor-mediated suppression of HSD3B is observed in rat progenitor Leydig cells (13). A summary of the known regulators of HSD3B mRNA in Leydig, granulosa and luteal cells is shown in Table 1.

While IGF-1 elevates HSD3B mRNA levels in rat theca cells, insulin, IGF-1 and IGF-2 only affect expression in human thecal tumor cells through enhancement of the response to forskolin (158,160). Basal mRNA levels in theca cells decline with BMP-4, -6 and -7 (127).

5.2. Transactivators and transrepressors

5.2.1. NR5A family and DAX-1

A phorbol ester-sensitive region in the human promoter includes an NR5A-binding element at -64 to -56 as shown in non-gonadal steroidogenic cells (161). SF-1 putatively drives basal promoter activity through this site in human granulosa tumor and non-gonadal cell lines (53,63,162) while LRH-1 by itself or additively with cAMP analog increases human promoter activity in human granulosa tumor cells (53). Other sites at -315 to -309 and -906 to -900 recognize LRH-1 in human granulosa tumor and luteinized granulosa cell extracts. Mutation of either site detrimentally affects the response to LRH-1 in the former cell type. Stimulation of the promoter by LRH-1 is also opposed by DAX-1 (53).

Still, NR5A family members may only play a minor role in HSD3B gene regulation *in vivo*. Granulosa

cell expression of HSD3B is unaffected by granulosa-cell targeted loss of LRH-1 in hCG-treated transgenic mice (48). While promoter activity in MA-10 cells is insensitive to SF-1 and LRH-1 (162), mutational analysis does point to a requirement for the NR5A site for full basal promoter activity (163).

5.2.2. GATA family

The promoter responds to both GATA4 and GATA6 overexpression in adrenal cell lines and GATA4 alone in MA-10 cells (162). As well, co-expression of either GATA4 or GATA6 synergistically increases NR5A protein-stimulated promoter activity in both kinds of cells. A -196 site in the human can account for promoter responsiveness to GATA factors (162). At least three other potential sites exist at -966, -570 and - 364. RNAi studies reveal that GATA4 mediates basal mRNA production in luteinizing porcine granulosa cells while neither GATA4 nor GATA6 affect the response to cAMP (74).

5.3. Other mediators of HSD3B transcription

Overexpression of Nur77 in human granulosa tumor cells and Nur77, Nurr1 and Nor1 in MA-10 cells drive the human promoter through an NBRE at -133 to -125 (63,163). HSD3B levels in human theca cells rise with Nur77 overexpression and decline with reduced endogenous Nur77 (66). A protein constitutively expressed in the testis, hypoxia inducible factor (HIF) 1alpha recognizes a putative HIF response element at -1012 in the murine gene (164). Exogenous expression of HIF-1alpha transactivates murine HSD3B in a model immature Leydig cell line, TM3 cell.

In prolactin receptor-expressing nonsteroidogenic cells, prolactin instigates binding of Stat5 to a -118 to -110 recognition site in the human gene, which in turn activates the promoter (165). This study may model how prolactin regulates HSD3B expression in the rodent corpus luteum (166).

5.4. The hsd3b6 gene

Less is known about a second isoform of 3beta-HSD also found in adult rodent Leydig cells, hsd3b6 (167). Due to its homology to gonadal HSD3B (168), the results of work carried out prior to its identification in the testis could actually reflect changes in hsd3b6 gene expression. Because of this, the differential regulation of the two isoforms in the testis requires further study. Interestingly, transgenic mice lacking the LH receptor exhibit a selective loss of hsd3b6 mRNA in the testes, but not HSD3B (169). Accordingly, LH does induce murine hsd3b6 promoter activity in K28 cells (57). This induction is opposed by TNFalpha.

Unlike HSD3B, both SF-1 and Nur77 activate the murine hsd3b6 promoter in Leydig cells and are opposed by TNFalpha (57). TNFalpha further reduces hsd3b6 mRNA levels and steroidogenesis in R2C cells. Like STARD1, Nur77 transactivation of hsd3b6 is sensitive to inhibition by ARR19 (62).

6. GENERAL REGULATION OF TRANSACTIVATORS AND TRANSREPRESSORS

Acute activation of the transcription factors that impact STARD1, CYP11A1, and HSD3B transcription is regulated by the same second messenger pathways that regulate the genes themselves. The majority of work on the regulation of these transcription factors has been performed in the context of the STARD1 promoter, but findings from this research may equally apply to the CYP11A1 or HSD3B genes when transactivating factors and signaling pathways are in common. Most evidence reflects that their response to LH/hCG stimulation is governed by cAMP pathways. PKC, MAP kinases (ERK1/ERK2) and CAM kinase pathways play supplementary or modulatory roles in LH/hCG or growth factor signaling. These pathways can alter the abundance of transcription factors or their activity. In MA-10 Leydig cells cAMP agonist increases Nur77 and c-Fos protein levels (55,56,84) and decreases the level of DAX-1 (56), but has no effect on CREB, Sp1, C/EBPbeta, SF-1, c-Jun, GATA4 or SREBP-1 (29,84,170). Phorbol ester activation of PKC elevates protein levels of C/EBPbeta, c-Jun, c-Fos and Nur77 (29,55,56) and decreases DAX-1, but does not affect Sp1, SF-1, GATA4 or SREBP-1 (29). The combination of PMA and cAMP analog further enhances expression of C/EBPbeta, c-Jun and c-Fos over PMA alone. In murine granulosa cells, hCG, presumably acting via cAMP pathways, leaves CREB, SF-1 and GATA4 unchanged, while increasing C/EBPbeta (170). In MA-10 cells, Nur77 expression falls with DAX-1 overexpression (56). Inhibition of CAMK1 decreases forskolin-stimulated (PKA pathway) Nur77 protein levels (55).

These second messenger pathways also promote activating post-translational modifications of relevant transcription factors, such as GATA4 phosphorylation by PKA signaling (171). Phosphorylation of CREB, c-Jun and c-Fos by PKA and PKC correlates with their increased association with the STARD1 promoter (see above) (84). Cooperative phosphorylation of CREB also occurs when both kinases are active (29). Silencing of PKC alpha, delta, epsilon or mu (protein kinase D; PKD) in MA-10 cells reduces STAR protein and progesterone production (172). PKCzeta similarly regulates granulosa cell expression of Nurr77 in response to LH (65). The cause, at least in the case of PKD silencing, is traceable to reductions in the level of phospho-CREB, phospho-c-Jun and phospho-c-Fos associated with the STARD1 promoter following PMA stimulation (172). Phosphorylation of C/EBPbeta by ERK1/2 downstream of PKA signaling contributes to STARD1 expression in murine granulosa cells (173). On the other hand, activation of PKA inhibits phosphorylation by salt-inducible kinase (SIK) and nuclear export of TORC, permitting the cofactor to work with CREB to enhance STARD1 gene transcription (174).

In addition to post-translational regulation, activation of trophic signaling pathways also enhances interactions of relevant transcription factors with coactivators and corepressors. Ligand binding also plays a role for certain nuclear receptors. While a detailed



Figure 2. Schematic representation showing the most studied proximal 5'-flanking regions for the STARD1, CYP11A1 and HSD3B genes. Elements relevant to gonadal cell transactivation of these genes is shown for the human (h), selected murine (m) and bovine (b) genes. CRE indicates CRE half-site. Numbers indicate position relative to the transcriptional start site (+1). GATA sites and NR5A sites which can bind SF-1 or LRH-1 are common to all gene promoters. See main text for references.

discussion of these aspects of regulation is beyond the scope of this article, perhaps the most illuminating example of how all of these factors come together is SF-1. The activity of this key transactivator is impacted by cofactors like glucocorticoid receptor-interacting protein 1 (GRIP1) and nuclear receptor corepressor (N-CoR), post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation and sumoylation, and possibly binding of certain phospholipids (175). The SF-1 regulated gene product DAX-1 further alters SF-1 activity. Multiple signaling pathways also control GATA4 generation and activity in gonadal cells (reviewed in (176)). Regulation of Nur77 expression by LH/hCG within the ovary appears to mirror that of STARD1 and CYP11A1 in the ovary (65).

7. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

De novo steroid synthesis in the gonads requires the coordinated activities of StAR, P450scc and select 3beta-HSD subtypes. The basal level of each protein's mRNA varies by tissue type and developmental status. Increases in gene expression elicited by trophic hormones primarily rely mostly on cAMP signaling and concomitant recruitment and activation of key transcription factors. A diagrammatic summary of the most studied promoters including conserved elements is shown in Figure 2. Promoter studies in several gonadal cellular settings reveal that NR5A and GATA family proteins are common transactivators and DAX-1 is a common suppressor. At least two of these genes positively respond to CREB, NR4A or Sp1 family members. The roles of SREBPs, LXRs, Kruppel factors and other candidate transcription factors identified as regulating the genes in other tissues bear further investigation.

Although overexpression studies implicate numerous transcription factors in the transactivation of these genes, the challenge is to verify their proposed activities in the animal. Refinements of the ChIP technique using validated antibodies in combination with fresh tissues or cells isolated during different physiological states can verify the direct interaction of transcription factors with the promoter as well as with each other. Certainly such work has been performed for several transcription factors in the case of the STARD1 gene, but it needs to be expanded to draw a more accurate picture of how steroidogenesis is regulated in the gonads.

8. REFERENCES

1. A. Bhangoo, H. Anhalt, S. Ten, and S.R. King: Phenotypic variations in lipoid congenital adrenal hyperplasia. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev* 3, 258-271 (2006)

2. D.M. Stocco and B.J. Clark: Regulation of the acute production of steroids in steroidogenic cells. *Endo Rev* 17, 221-244 (1996)

3. B.J. Clark, J. Wells, S.R. King, and D.M. Stocco: The purification, cloning, and expression of a novel luteinizing hormone-induced mitochondrial protein in MA-10 mouse Leydig tumor cells. Characterization of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR). *J Biol Chem* 269, 28314-28322 (1994)

4. J. Simard, M.L. Ricketts, S. Gingras, P. Soucy, F.A. Feltus, and M.H. Melner: Molecular biology of the 3betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta5-delta4 isomerase gene family. *Endocr Rev* 26, 525-582 (2005)

5. A.H. Payne and G.L. Youngblood: Regulation of expression of steroidogenic enzymes in Leydig cells. *Biol Reprod* 52, 217-225 (1995)

6. L. Luo, H. Chen, D.M. Stocco, and B.R. Zirkin: Leydig cell protein synthesis and steroidogenesis in response to acute stimulation by luteinizing hormone in rats. *Biol Reprod* 59, 263-270 (1998)

7. J.S. Richards: Hormonal control of gene expression in the ovary. *Endocr Rev* 15, 725-751 (1994)

8. P.R. Manna, S.P. Chandrala, Y. Jo, and D.M. Stocco: cAMP-independent signaling regulates steroidogenesis in mouse Leydig cells in the absence of StAR phosphorylation. *J Mol Endocrinol* 37, 81-95 (2006)

9. Y. Jo, S.R. King, S.A. Khan, and D.M. Stocco: Involvement of protein kinase C and cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate-dependent kinase in steroidogenic acute regulatory protein expression and steroid biosynthesis in Leydig cells. *Biol Reprod* 73, 244-255 (2005)

10. P.R. Manna, S.P. Chandrala, S.R. King, Y. Jo, R. Counis, I.T. Huhtaniemi, and D.M. Stocco: Molecular mechanisms of insulin-like growth factor-I mediated regulation of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in mouse leydig cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 20, 362-378 (2006)

11. T. Lin, D. Wang, J. Hu, and D.M. Stocco: Upregulation of human chorionic gonadotrophininduced steroidogenic acute regulatory protein by insulin-like growth factor-I in rat Leydig cells. *Endocrine* 8, 73-78 (1998)

12. P.R. Manna, I.T. Huhtaniemi, X.J. Wang, D.W. Eubank, and D.M. Stocco: Mechanisms of epidermal growth factor signaling: regulation of steroid biosynthesis and the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in mouse Leydig tumor cells. *Biol Reprod* 67, 1393-1404 (2002)

13. Y.C. Xiao, Y.D. Huang, D.O. Hardy, X.K. Li, and R.S. Ge: Glucocorticoid suppresses steroidogenesis in rat progenitor leydig cells. *J Androl* 31, 365-371 (2010)

14. C.W. Gregory and R.M. DePhilip: Detection of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) in

mitochondria of cultured rat Sertoli cells incubated with follicle-stimulating hormone. *Biol Reprod* 58, 470-474 (1998)

15. S.E. Pollack, E.E. Furth, C.B. Kallen, F. Arakane, M. Kiriakidou, K.F. Kozarsky, and J.F. Strauss: Localization of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in human tissues. *J Clin Endo Metab* 82, 4243-4251 (1997)

16. S.L. Ford, A.J. Reinhart, Y. Lukyanenko, J.C. Hutson, and D.M. Stocco: Pregnenolone synthesis in immature rat Sertoli cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 157, 87-94 (1999)

17. T. Ishikawa, K. Hwang, D. Lazzarino, and P.L. Morris: Sertoli cell expression of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein-related lipid transfer 1 and 5 domaincontaining proteins and sterol regulatory element binding protein-1 are interleukin-1beta regulated by activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase and cyclooxygenase-2 and cytokine induction. *Endocrinology* 146, 5100-5111 (2005)

18. M. Kiriakidou, J.M. McAllister, T. Sugawara, and J.F. Strauss, III: Expression of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) in the human ovary. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 81, 4122-4128 (1996)

19. T. Ronen-Fuhrmann, R. Timberg, S.R. King, K.H. Hales, D.B. Hales, D.M. Stocco, and J. Orly: Spatio-temporal expression patterns of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) during follicular development in the rat ovary. *Endocrinology* 139, 303-315 (1998)

20. R. Ivell, G. Tillmann, H. Wang, M. Nicol, P.M. Stewart, B. Bartlick, N. Walther, J.I. Mason, and S.D. Morley: Acute regulation of the bovine gene for the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in ovarian theca and adrenocortical cells. *J Mol Endocrinol* 24, 109-118 (2000)

21. G. Zhang, J.C. Garmey, and J.D. Veldhuis: Interactive stimulation by luteinizing hormone and insulin of the steroidogenic acute regulatory (StAR) protein and 17alpha-hydroxylase/17,20-lyase (CYP17) genes in porcine theca cells. *Endocrinology* 141, 2735-2742 (2000)

22. N. Sekar, H.A. LaVoie, and J.D. Veldhuis: Concerted regulation of steroidogenic acute regulatory gene expression by luteinizing hormone and insulin (or insulin-like growth factor I) in primary cultures of porcine granulosa-luteal cells. *Endocrinology* 141, 3983-3992 (2000)

23. J.L. Juengel, B.M. Meberg, A.M. Turzillo, T.M. Nett, and G.D. Niswender: Hormonal regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid encoding steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in ovine corpora lutea. *Endocrinology* 136, 5423-5429 (1995)

24. T. Sugawara, J.A. Holt, D. Driscoll, J.F. Strauss, III, D. Lin, W.L. Miller, D. Patterson, K.P. Clancy, I.M. Hart, B.J. Clark, and D.M. Stocco: Human steroidogenic acute regulatory protein: functional activity in COS-1 cells, tissue-specific expression, and mapping of the structural gene to 8p11.2 and a

pseudogene to chromosome 13. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 4778-4782 (1995)

25. C.T. Huang, S.R. Weitsman, B.N. Dykes, and D.A. Magoffin: Stem cell factor and insulin-like growth factor-I stimulate luteinizing hormone-independent differentiation of rat ovarian theca cells. *Biol Reprod* 64, 451-456 (2001)

26. B. Bao and H.A. Garverick: Expression of steroidogenic enzyme and gonadotropin receptor genes in bovine follicles during ovarian follicular waves: a review. *J Anim Sci* 76, 1903-1921 (1998)

27. A. Bonnet, K.A. Le Cao, M. Sancristobal, F. Benne, C. Robert-Granie, G. Law-So, S. Fabre, P. Besse, De Billy E., H. Quesnel, F. Hatey, and G. Tosser-Klopp: *In vivo* gene expression in granulosa cells during pig terminal follicular development. *Reproduction* 136, 211-224 (2008)

28. P.H. Chung, T.W. Sandhoff, and M.P. McLean: Hormone and prostaglandin F2 alpha regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid encoding steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in human corpora lutea. *Endocrine* 8, 153-160 (1998)

29. P.R. Manna, I.T. Huhtaniemi, and D.M. Stocco: Mechanisms of protein kinase C signaling in the modulation of 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphatemediated steroidogenesis in mouse gonadal cells. *Endocrinology* 150, 3308-3317 (2009)

30. N. Pescador, A. Houde, D.M. Stocco, and B.D. Murphy: Follicle-stimulating hormone and intracellular second messengers regulate steroidogenic acute regulatory protein messenger ribonucleic acid in luteinized porcine granulosa cells. *Biol Reprod* 57, 660-668 (1997)

31. H.Y. Fan, A. O'Connor, M. Shitanaka, M. Shimada, Z. Liu, and J.S. Richards: Beta-catenin (CTNNB1) promotes preovulatory follicular development but represses LH-mediated ovulation and luteinization. *Mol Endocrinol* 24, 1529-1542 (2010)

32. M.P. Kowalewski, M.T. Dyson, A. Boos, and D.M. Stocco: Vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP)-mediated expression and function of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) in granulosa cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 328, 93-103 (2010)

33. N. Noma, I. Kawashima, H.Y. Fan, Y. Fujita, T. Kawai, Y. Tomoda, T. Mihara, J.S. Richards, and M. Shimada: LH-Induced neuregulin 1 (NRG1) type III transcripts control granulosa cell differentiation and oocyte maturation. *Mol Endocrinol* 25, 104-116 (11 A.D.)

34. K. Balasubramanian, H.A. LaVoie, J.C. Garmey, D.M. Stocco, and J.D. Veldhuis: Regulation of porcine granulosa cell steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) by insulin-like growth factor I: synergism with follicle-stimulating hormone or protein kinase A agonist. *Endocrinology* 138, 433-439 (1997)

35. E. Silverman, S. Eimerl, and J. Orly: CCAAT enhancer-binding protein beta and GATA-4 binding regions within the promoter of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) gene are required for transcription in rat ovarian cells. *J Biol Chem* 274, 17987-17996 (1999)

36. H.A. LaVoie and S.R. King: Transcriptional regulation of steroidogenic genes: STARD1, CYP11A1 and HSD3B. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* 234, 880-907 (2009)

37. T. Sugawara, M. Kiriakidou, J.M. McAllister, C.B. Kallen, and J.F. Strauss, III: Multiple steroidogenic factor 1 binding elements in the human steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene 5'-flanking region are required for maximal promoter activity and cyclic AMP responsiveness. *Biochemistry* 36, 7249-7255 (1997)

38. K.M. Caron, Y. Ikeda, S.C. Soo, D.M. Stocco, K.L. Parker, and B.J. Clark: Characterization of the promoter region of the mouse gene encoding the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein. *Mol Endocrinol* 11, 138-147 (1997)

39. C.R. Wooton-Kee and B.J. Clark: Steroidogenic factor-1 influences protein-deoxyribonucleic acid interactions within the cyclic adenosine 3,5-monophosphate-responsive regions of the murine steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene. *Endocrinology* 141, 1345-1355 (2000)

40. N. Yivgi-Ohana, N. Sher, N. Melamed-Book, S. Eimerl, M. Koler, P.R. Manna, D.M. Stocco, and J. Orly: Transcription of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (STAR) in the rodent ovary and placenta: alternative modes of cyclic adenosine 3', 5'-monophosphate dependent and independent regulation. *Endocrinology* 150, 977-989 (2009)

41. P.R. Manna, D.W. Eubank, E. Lalli, P. Sassone-Corsi, and D.M. Stocco: Transcriptional regulation of the mouse steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene by the cAMP response-element binding protein and steroidogenic factor 1. *J Mol Endocrinol* 30, 381-397 (2003)

42. H.A. LaVoie, D. Singh, and Y.Y. Hui: Concerted regulation of the porcine steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene promoter activity by follicle-stimulating hormone and insulin-like growth factor I in granulosa cells involves GATA-4 and CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta. *Endocrinology* 145, 3122-3134 (2004)

43. T. Mizutani, T. Yazawa, Y. Ju, Y. Imamichi, M. Uesaka, Y. Inaoka, K. Matsuura, Y. Kamiki, M. Oki, A. Umezawa, and K. Miyamoto: Identification of a novel distal control region upstream of the human steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (star) gene that participates in SF-1 dependent chromatin architecture. *J Biol Chem* 285, 28240-28251 (2010)

44. T. Sugawara, M. Kiriakidou, J.M. McAllister, J.A. Holt, F. Arakane, and J.F. Strauss, III: Regulation of expression of the steroidogenic acute regulatory

protein(StAR) gene: a central role for steroidogenic factor 1. *Steroids* 62, 5-9 (1997)

45. T. Sugawara, J.A. Holt, M. Kiriakidou, and J.F. Strauss, III: Steroidogenic factor 1-dependent promoter activity of the human steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) gene. *Biochemistry* 35, 9052-9059 (1996)

46. P. Jeyasuria, Y. Ikeda, S.P. Jamin, L. Zhao, D.G. de Rooij, A.P. Themmen, R.R. Behringer, and K.L. Parker: Cell-specific knockout of steroidogenic factor 1 reveals its essential roles in gonadal function. *Mol Endocrinol* 18, 1610-1619 (2004)

47. H. Hiroi, L.K. Christenson, L. Chang, M.D. Sammel, S.L. Berger, and J.F. Strauss, III: Temporal and spatial changes in transcription factor binding and histone modifications at the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) locus associated with StAR transcription. *Mol Endocrinol* 18, 791-806 (2004)

48. R. Duggavathi, D.H. Volle, C. Mataki, M.C. Antal, N. Messaddeq, J. Auwerx, B.D. Murphy, and K. Schoonjans: Liver receptor homolog 1 is essential for ovulation. *Genes Dev* 22, 1871-1876 (2008)

49. R. Sirianni, J.B. Seely, G. Attia, D.M. Stocco, B.R. Carr, V. Pezzi, and W.E. Rainey: Liver receptor homologue-1 is expressed in human steroidogenic tissues and activates transcription of genes encoding steroidogenic enzymes. *J Endocrinol* 174, R13-R17 (2002)

50. J.W. Kim, N. Peng, W.E. Rainey, B.R. Carr, and G.R. Attia: Liver receptor homolog-1 regulates the expression of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in human granulosa cells. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 89, 3042-3047 (2004)

51. A.E. Falender, R. Lanz, D. Malenfant, L. Belanger, and J.S. Richards: Differential expression of steroidogenic factor-1 and FTF/LRH-1 in the rodent ovary. *Endocrinology* 144, 3598-3610 (2003)

52. M.M. Hinshelwood, J.J. Repa, J.M. Shelton, J.A. Richardson, D.J. Mangelsdorf, and C.R. Mendelson: Expression of LRH-1 and SF-1 in the mouse ovary: localization in different cell types correlates with differing function. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 207, 39-45 (2003)

53. N. Peng, J.W. Kim, W.E. Rainey, B.R. Carr, and G.R. Attia: The role of the orphan nuclear receptor, liver receptor homologue-1, in the regulation of human corpus luteum 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type II. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88, 6020-6028 (2003)

54. L. Roy, C.A. McDonald, C. Jiang, D. Maroni, A.J. Zeleznik, T.A. Wyatt, X. Hou, and J.S. Davis: Convergence of 3',5'-cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate/protein kinase A and glycogen synthase kinase-3beta/beta-catenin signaling in corpus luteum progesterone synthesis. *Endocrinology* 150, 5036-5045 (2009)

55. L.J. Martin, N. Boucher, C. Brousseau, and J.J. Tremblay: The orphan nuclear receptor NUR77 regulates hormone-induced StAR transcription in Leydig cells

through cooperation with Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I. *Mol Endocrinol* 22, 2021-2037 (2008)

56. P.R. Manna, M.T. Dyson, Y. Jo, and D.M. Stocco: Role of DAX-1 in PKA- and PKC-mediated regulation of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein expression in mouse Leydig tumor cells: mechanism of action. *Endocrinology* 150, 187-199 (2009)

57. C.Y. Hong, J.H. Park, R.S. Ahn, S.Y. Im, H.S. Choi, J. Soh, S.H. Mellon, and K. Lee: Molecular mechanism of suppression of testicular steroidogenesis by proinflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Mol Cell Biol* 24, 2593-2604 (2004)

58. K.H. Song, J.I. Park, M.O. Lee, J. Soh, K. Lee, and H.S. Choi: LH induces orphan nuclear receptor Nur77 gene expression in testicular Leydig cells. *Endocrinology* 142, 5116-5123 (2001)

59. L.J. Martin and J.J. Tremblay: The nuclear receptors NUR77 and SF1 play additive roles with c-JUN through distinct elements on the mouse Star promoter. *J Mol Endocrinol* 42, 119-129 (2009)

60. L.J. Martin and J.J. Tremblay: Glucocorticoids antagonize cAMP-induced Star transcription in Leydig cells through the orphan nuclear receptor NR4A1. *J Mol Endocrinol* 41, 165-175 (2008)

61. K.H. Song, Y.Y. Park, H.J. Kee, C.Y. Hong, Y.S. Lee, S.W. Ahn, H.J. Kim, K. Lee, H. Kook, I.K. Lee, and H.S. Choi: Orphan nuclear receptor Nur77 induces zinc finger protein GIOT-1 gene expression, and GIOT-1 acts as a novel corepressor of orphan nuclear receptor SF-1 via recruitment of HDAC2. *J Biol Chem* 281, 15605-15614 (2006)

62. I. Qamar, E.Y. Gong, Y. Kim, C.H. Song, H.J. Lee, S.Y. Chun, and K. Lee: Anti-steroidogenic factor ARR19 inhibits testicular steroidogenesis through the suppression of Nur77 transactivation. *J Biol Chem* 285, 22360-22369 (2010)

63. J.C. Havelock, A.L. Smith, J.B. Seely, C.A. Dooley, R.J. Rodgers, W.E. Rainey, and B.R. Carr: The NGFI-B family of transcription factors regulates expression of 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 in the human ovary. *Mol Hum Reprod* 11, 79-85 (2005)

64. J.I. Park, H.J. Park, H.S. Choi, K. Lee, W.K. Lee, and S.Y. Chun: Gonadotropin regulation of NGFI-B messenger ribonucleic acid expression during ovarian follicle development in the rat. *Endocrinology* 142, 3051-3059 (2001)

65. J.I. Park, H.J. Park, Y.I. Lee, Y.M. Seo, and S.Y. Chun: Regulation of NGFI-B expression during the ovulatory process. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 202, 25-29 (2003)

66. M. Li, K. Xue, J. Ling, F.Y. Diao, Y.G. Cui, and J.Y. Liu: The orphan nuclear receptor NR4A1 regulates

transcription of key steroidogenic enzymes in ovarian theca cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 319, 39-46 (2010)

67. H.A. LaVoie: The role of GATA in mammalian reproduction. *Exp Biol Med* 228, 1282-1290 (2003)

68. P. Jimenez, K. Saner, B. Mayhew, and W.E. Rainey: GATA-6 is expressed in the human adrenal and regulates transcription of genes required for adrenal androgen biosynthesis. *Endocrinology* 144, 4285-4288 (2003)

69. H. Nishida, S. Miyagawa, M. Vieux-Rochas, M. Morini, Y. Ogino, K. Suzuki, N. Nakagata, H.S. Choi, G. Levi, and G. Yamada: Positive regulation of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene expression through the interaction between Dlx and GATA-4 for testicular steroidogenesis. *Endocrinology* 149, 2090-2097 (2008)

70. C. Gillio-Meina, Y.Y. Hui, and H.A. LaVoie: GATA-4 and GATA-6 transcription factors: expression, immunohistochemical localization, and possible function in the porcine ovary. *Biol Reprod* 68, 412-422 (2003)

71. M. Anttonen, I. Ketola, H. Parviainen, A.K. Pusa, and M. Heikinheimo: FOG-2 and GATA-4 are coexpressed in the mouse ovary and can modulate Müllerian-inhibiting substance expression. *Biol Reprod* 68, 1333-1340 (2003)

72. H.A. LaVoie, G.L. McCoy, and C.A. Blake: Expression of the GATA-4 and GATA-6 transcription factors in the fetal rat gonad and in the ovary during postnatal development and pregnancy. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 227, 31-40 (2004)

73. E. Silverman, N. Yivgi-Ohana, N. Sher, M. Bell, S. Eimerl, and J. Orly: Transcriptional activation of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) gene: GATA-4 and CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta confer synergistic responsiveness in hormone-treated rat granulosa and HEK293 cell models. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 252, 92-101 (2006)

74. Y.Y. Hui and H.A. LaVoie: GATA4 reduction enhances cyclic AMP-stimulated steroidogenic acute regulatory protein mRNA and progesterone production in luteinized porcine granulosa cells. *Endocrinology* 149, 5557-5567 (2008)

75. L.K. Christenson, P.F. Johnson, J.M. McAllister, and J.F. Strauss: CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins regulate expression of the human steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) gene. *J Biol Chem* 274, 26591-26598 (1999)

76. A.J. Reinhart, S.C. Williams, B.J. Clark, and D.M. Stocco: SF-1 (steroidogenic factor-1) and C/EBP beta (CCAAT/enhancer binding protein-beta) cooperate to regulate the murine StAR (steroidogenic acute regulatory) promoter. *Mol Endocrinol* 13, 729-741 (1999)

77. H.Y. Fan, Z. Liu, P.F. Johnson, and J.S. Richards: CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBP)-{alpha} and -

{beta} are essential for ovulation, luteinization, and the expression of key target genes. *Mol Endocrinol* 25, 253-268 (2010)

78. J.J. Tremblay, F. Hamel, and R.S. Viger: Protein kinase A-dependent cooperation between GATA and CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein transcription factors regulates steroidogenic acute regulatory protein promoter activity. *Endocrinology* 143, 3935-3945 (2002)

79. P.R. Manna, X.J. Wang, and D.M. Stocco: Involvement of multiple transcription factors in the regulation of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene expression. *Steroids* 68, 1125-1134 (2003)

80. P.R. Manna, M.T. Dyson, D.W. Eubank, B.J. Clark, E. Lalli, P. Sassone-Corsi, A.J. Zeleznik, and D.M. Stocco: Regulation of steroidogenesis and the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein by a member of the cAMP responseelement binding protein family. *Mol Endocrinol* 16, 184-199 (2002)

81. B.F. Clem, E.A. Hudson, and B.J. Clark: Cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate (cAMP) enhances cAMP-responsive element binding (CREB) protein phosphorylation and phospho-CREB interaction with the mouse steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene promoter. *Endocrinology* 146, 1348-1356 (2005)

82. H. Takemori, M. Kanematsu, J. Kajimura, O. Hatano, Y. Katoh, X.Z. Lin, L. Min, T. Yamazaki, J. Doi, and M. Okamoto: Dephosphorylation of TORC initiates expression of the StAR gene. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 265-266, 196-204 (2007)

83. P.R. Manna, D.W. Eubank, and D.M. Stocco: Assessment of the role of activator protein-1 on transcription of the mouse steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene. *Mol Endocrinol* 18, 558-573 (2004)

84. P.R. Manna and D.M. Stocco: Crosstalk of CREB and Fos/Jun on a single cis-element: transcriptional repression of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene. *J Mol Endocrinol* 39, 261-277 (2007)

85. S.H. Hall, M.C. Berthelon, O. Avallet, and J.M. Saez: Regulation of c-fos, c-jun, jun-B, and c-myc messenger ribonucleic acids by gonadotropin and growth factors in cultured pig Leydig cell. *Endocrinology* 129, 1243-1249 (1991)

86. P.R. Manna and D.M. Stocco: The role of JUN in the regulation of PRKCC-mediated STAR expression and steroidogenesis in mouse Leydig cells. *J Mol Endocrinol* 41, 329-341 (2008)

87. L.K. Christenson, J.M. McAllister, K.O. Martin, N.B. Javitt, T.F. Osborne, and J.F. Strauss, III: Oxysterol regulation of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene expression. Structural specificity and transcriptional and posttranscriptional actions. *J Biol Chem* 273, 30729-30735 (1998)

88. S.R. King, A.A. Matassa, E.K. White, L.P. Walsh, Y. Jo, R.M. Rao, D.M. Stocco, and M.E. Reyland: Oxysterols regulate expression of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein. *J Mol Endocrinol* 32, 507-517 (2004)

89. F. Borthwick, J.M. Taylor, C. Bartholomew, and A. Graham: Differential regulation of the STARD1 subfamily of START lipid trafficking proteins in human macrophages. *FEBS Lett* 583, 1147-1153 (2009)

90. L.K. Christenson, T.F. Osborne, J.M. McAllister, and J.F. Strauss, III: Conditional response of the human steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene promoter to sterol regulatory element binding protein-1a. *Endocrinology* 142, 28-36 (2001)

91. A.C. Nackley, W. Shea-Eaton, D. Lopez, and M.P. McLean: Repression of the steroidogenic acute regulatory gene by the multifunctional transcription factor Yin Yang 1. *Endocrinology* 143, 1085-1096 (2002)

92. Z.T. Ruiz-Cortes, Y. Martel-Kennes, N.Y. Gevry, B.R. Downey, M.F. Palin, and B.D. Murphy: Biphasic effects of leptin in porcine granulosa cells. *Biol Reprod* 68, 789-796 (2003)

93. W.K. Shea-Eaton, M.J. Trinidad, D. Lopez, A. Nackley, and M.P. McLean: Sterol regulatory element binding protein-1a regulation of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene. *Endocrinology* 142, 1525-1533 (2001)

94. T. Sugawara, D. Lin, J.A. Holt, K.O. Martin, N.B. Javitt, W.L. Miller, and J.F. Strauss, III: Structure of the human steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) gene: StAR stimulates mitochondrial cholesterol 27- hydroxylase activity. *Biochemistry* 34, 12506-12512 (1995)

95. J.M. Taylor, F. Borthwick, C. Bartholomew, and A. Graham: Overexpression of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein increases macrophage cholesterol efflux to apolipoprotein AI. *Cardiovasc Res* 86, 526-534 (2010)

96. M. Nilsson, T.M. Stulnig, C.Y. Lin, A.L. Yeo, P. Nowotny, E.T. Liu, and K.R. Steffensen: Liver X receptors regulate adrenal steroidogenesis and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal feedback. *Mol Endocrinol* 21, 126-137 (2007)

97. C.L. Cummins, D.H. Volle, Y. Zhang, J.G. McDonald, B. Sion, A.M. Lefrancois-Martinez, F. Caira, G. Veyssiere, D.J. Mangelsdorf, and J.M. Lobaccaro: Liver X receptors regulate adrenal cholesterol balance. *J Clin Invest* 116, 1902-1912 (2006)

98. K. Mouzat, F. Volat, S. Baron, G. Alves, A.J. Pommier, D.H. Volle, G. Marceau, A. DeHaze, P. Dechelotte, R. Duggavathi, F. Caira, and J.M. Lobaccaro: Absence of nuclear receptors for oxysterols liver X receptor induces ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome in mice. *Endocrinology* 150, 3369-3375 (2009) 99. D.H. Volle, K. Mouzat, R. Duggavathi, B. Siddeek, P. Dechelotte, B. Sion, G. Veyssiere, M. Benahmed, and J.M. Lobaccaro: Multiple roles of the nuclear receptors for oxysterols liver X receptor to maintain male fertility. *Mol Endocrinol* 21, 1014-1027 (2007)

100. H.K. Lee, M.S. Yoo, H.S. Choi, H.B. Kwon, and J. Soh: Retinoic acids up-regulate steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 148, 1-10 (1999)

101. J.K. Wickenheisser, V.L. Nelson-DeGrave, K.L. Hendricks, R.S. Legro, J.F. Strauss, III, and J.M. McAllister: Retinoids and retinol differentially regulate steroid biosynthesis in ovarian theca cells isolated from normal cycling women and women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 90, 4858-4865 (2005)

102. E. Zazopoulos, E. Lalli, D.M. Stocco, and P. Sassone-Corsi: DNA binding and transcriptional repression by DAX-1 blocks steroidogenesis. *Nature* 390, 311-315 (1997)

103. Y. Jo and D.M. Stocco: Regulation of steroidogenesis and steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in R2C cells by DAX-1 (dosage-sensitive sex reversal, adrenal hypoplasia congenita, critical region on the X chromosome, gene-1). *Endocrinology* 145, 5629-5637 (2004)

104. E. Lalli, M.H. Melner, D.M. Stocco, and P. Sassone-Corsi: DAX-1 blocks steroid production at multiple levels. *Endocrinology* 139, 4237-4243 (1998)

105. T.W. Sandhoff and M.P. McLean: Repression of the rat steroidogenic acute regulatory (StAR) protein gene by PGF2alpha is modulated by the negative transcription factor DAX-1. *Endocrine* 10, 83-91 (1999)

106. P.R. Manna, P. Roy, B.J. Clark, D.M. Stocco, and I.T. Huhtaniemi: Interaction of thyroid hormone and steroidogenic acute regulatory (StAR) protein in the regulation of murine Leydig cell steroidogenesis. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 76, 167-177 (2001)

107. T. Suzuki, M. Kasahara, H. Yoshioka, K. Morohashi, and K. Umesono: LXXLL-related motifs in Dax-1 have target specificity for the orphan nuclear receptors Ad4BP/SF-1 and LRH-1. *Mol Cell Biol* 23, 238-249 (2003)

108. K.H. Song, Y.Y. Park, K.C. Park, C.Y. Hong, J.H. Park, M. Shong, K. Lee, and H.S. Choi: The atypical orphan nuclear receptor DAX-1 interacts with orphan nuclear receptor Nur77 and represses its transactivation. *Mol Endocrinol* 18, 1929-1940 (2004)

109. B. Xu, W.H. Yang, I. Gerin, C.D. Hu, G.D. Hammer, and R.J. Koenig: DAX-1 and steroid receptor RNA activator (SRA) function as transcriptional coactivators for steroidogenic factor-1 in steroidogenesis. *Mol Cell Biol* 29, 1719-1734 (2009)

110. Q. Liu, K.A. Merkler, X. Zhang, and M.P. McLean: Prostaglandin F2alpha suppresses rat steroidogenic acute regulatory protein expression via induction of Yin Yang 1 protein and recruitment of histone deacetylase 1 protein. *Endocrinology* 148, 5209-5219 (2007)

111. S. Natesampillai, J. Kerkvliet, P.C. Leung, and J.D. Veldhuis: Regulation of Kruppel-like factor 4, 9, and 13 genes and the steroidogenic genes LDLR, StAR, and CYP11A in ovarian granulosa cells. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 294, E385-E391 (2008)

112. T. Sugawara, M. Saito, and S. Fujimoto: Sp1 and SF-1 interact and cooperate in the regulation of human steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene expression. *Endocrinology* 141, 2895-2903 (2000)

113. M.P. Kowalewski, M.T. Dyson, P.R. Manna, and D.M. Stocco: Involvement of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma in gonadal steroidogenesis and steroidogenic acute regulatory protein expression. *Reprod Fertil Dev* 21, 909-922 (2009)

114. B.F. Clem and B.J. Clark: Association of the mSin3Ahistone deacetylase 1/2 corepressor complex with the mouse steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene. *Mol Endocrinol* 20, 100-113 (2006)

115. M.D. Pisarska, J. Bae, C. Klein, and A.J. Hsueh: Forkhead 12 is expressed in the ovary and represses the promoter activity of the steroidogenic acute regulatory gene. *Endocrinology* 145, 3424-3433 (2004)

116. F.T. Kuo, I.K. tsi-Barnes, G.M. Barlow, J. Bae, and M.D. Pisarska: Sumoylation of forkhead L2 by Ubc9 is required for its activity as a transcriptional repressor of the Steroidogenic Acute Regulatory gene. *Cell Signal* 21, 1935-1944 (2009)

117. Z. Liu, M.D. Rudd, I. Hernandez-Gonzalez, I. Gonzalez-Robayna, H.Y. Fan, A.J. Zeleznik, and J.S. Richards: FSH and FOXO1 regulate genes in the sterol/steroid and lipid biosynthetic pathways in granulosa cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 23, 649-661 (2009)

118. A.C. Millena, S.C. Reddy, G.H. Bowling, and S.A. Khan: Autocrine regulation of steroidogenic function of Leydig cells by transforming growth factor-alpha. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 224, 29-39 (2004)

119. A.H. Payne and L.L. Sha: Multiple mechanisms for regulation of 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta 5-delta 4-isomerase, 17 alpha-hydroxylase/C17-20 lyase cytochrome P450, and cholesterol side-chain cleavage cytochrome P450 messenger ribonucleic acid levels in primary cultures of mouse Leydig cells. *Endocrinology* 129, 1429-1435 (1991)

120. A.H. Payne: Hormonal regulation of cytochrome P450 enzymes, cholesterol side-chain cleavage and 17 alpha-hydroxylase/C17-20 lyase in Leydig cells. *Biol Reprod* 42, 399-404 (1990)

121. H. Lejeune, P. Sanchez, F. Chuzel, D. Langlois, and J.M. Saez: Time-course effects of human recombinant

luteinizing hormone on porcine Leydig cell specific differentiated functions. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 144, 59-69 (1998)

122. S.H. Mellon and C. Vaisse: cAMP regulates P450scc gene expression by a cycloheximide-insensitive mechanism in cultured mouse Leydig MA-10 cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 86, 7775-7779 (1989)

123. Y.P. Xu, P.J. Chedrese, and P.A. Thacker: Growth hormone amplifies insulin-like growth factor I induced progesterone accumulation and P450scc mRNA expression. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 111, 199-206 (1995)

124. J.C. Garmey, H.D. Guthrie, W.M. Garrett, M.H. Stoler, and J.D. Veldhuis: Localization and expression of low-density lipoprotein receptor, steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage and P450 17-alpha-hydroxylase/C17-20 lyase in developing swine follicles: *in situ* molecular hybridization and immunocytochemical studies. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 170, 57-65 (2000)

125. N.B. Goldring, J.M. Durica, J. Lifka, L. Hedin, S.L. Ratoosh, W.L. Miller, J. Orly, and J.S. Richards: Cholesterol side-chain cleavage P450 messenger ribonucleic acid: evidence for hormonal regulation in rat ovarian follicles and constitutive expression in corpora lutea. *Endocrinology* 120, 1942-1950 (1987)

126. D.A. Magoffin and S.R. Weitsman: Effect of insulinlike growth factor-I on cholesterol side-chain cleavage cytochrome P450 messenger ribonucleic acid expression in ovarian theca-interstitial cells stimulated to differentiate *in vitro. Mol Cell Endocrinol* 96, 45-51 (1993)

127. C. Glister, S.L. Richards, and P.G. Knight: Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP) -4, -6, and -7 potently suppress basal and luteinizing hormone-induced androgen production by bovine theca interna cells in primary culture: could ovarian hyperandrogenic dysfunction be caused by a defect in thecal BMP signaling? *Endocrinology* 146, 1883-1892 (2005)

128. L.J. Spicer, P.Y. Aad, D.T. Allen, S. Mazerbourg, A.H. Payne, and A.J. Hsueh: Growth differentiation factor 9 (GDF9) stimulates proliferation and inhibits steroidogenesis by bovine theca cells: influence of follicle size on responses to GDF9. *Biol Reprod* 78, 243-253 (2008)

129. N. Ravindranath, L. Little-Ihrig, D.F. Benyo, and A.J. Zeleznik: Role of luteinizing hormone in the expression of cholesterol side-chain cleavage cytochrome P450 and 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, delta 5-4 isomerase messenger ribonucleic acids in the primate corpus luteum. *Endocrinology* 131, 2065-2070 (1992)

130. W.C. Duncan, G.M. Cowen, and P.J. Illingworth: Steroidogenic enzyme expression in human corpora lutea in the presence and absence of exogenous human chorionic gonadotrophin (HCG). *Mol Hum Reprod* 5, 291-298 (1999) 131. C. Stocco, E. Callegari, and G. Gibori: Opposite effect of prolactin and prostaglandin F(2 alpha) on the expression of luteal genes as revealed by rat cDNA expression array. *Endocrinology* 142, 4158-4161 (2001)

132. H.S. Wu, H.T. Lin, C.K. Wang, Y.F. Chiang, H.P. Chu, and M.C. Hu: Human CYP11A1 promoter drives Cre recombinase expression in the brain in addition to adrenals and gonads. *Genesis* 45, 59-65 (2007)

133. I.C. Guo, M.C. Shih, H.C. Lan, N.C. Hsu, M.C. Hu, and B.C. Chung: Transcriptional regulation of human CYP11A1 in gonads and adrenals. *J Biomed Sci* 14, 509-515 (2007)

134. J.W. Clemens, D.S. Lala, K.L. Parker, and J.S. Richards: Steroidogenic factor-1 binding and transcriptional activity of the cholesterol side-chain cleavage promoter in rat granulosa cells. *Endocrinology* 134, 1499-1508 (1994)

135. J.W. Kim, J.C. Havelock, B.R. Carr, and G.R. Attia: The orphan nuclear receptor, liver receptor homolog-1, regulates cholesterol side-chain cleavage cytochrome p450 enzyme in human granulosa cells. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 90, 1678-1685 (2005)

136. M.C. Hu, N.C. Hsu, C.I. Pai, C.K. Wang, and B. Chung: Functions of the upstream and proximal steroidogenic factor 1 (SF-1)-binding sites in the CYP11A1 promoter in basal transcription and hormonal response. *Mol Endocrinol* 15, 812-818 (2001)

137. Z. Liu and E.R. Simpson: Molecular mechanism for cooperation between Sp1 and steroidogenic factor-1 (SF-1) to regulate bovine CYP11A gene expression. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 153, 183-196 (1999)

138. Z. Liu and E.R. Simpson: Steroidogenic factor 1 (SF-1) and SP1 are required for regulation of bovine CYP11A gene expression in bovine luteal cells and adrenal Y1 cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 11, 127-137 (1997)

139. M.C. Shih, N.C. Hsu, C.C. Huang, T.S. Wu, P.Y. Lai, and B.C. Chung: Mutation of mouse Cyp11a1 promoter caused tissue-specific reduction of gene expression and blunted stress response without affecting reproduction. *Mol Endocrinol* 22, 915-923 (2008)

140. Y.M. Chau, P.A. Crawford, K.G. Woodson, J.A. Polish, L.M. Olson, and Y. Sadovsky: Role of steroidogenic-factor 1 in basal and 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate-mediated regulation of cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage enzyme in the mouse. *Biol Reprod* 57, 765-771 (1997)

141. N. Walther, M. Jansen, W. Akbary, and R. Ivell: Differentiation-specific action of orphan nuclear receptor NR5A1 (SF-1): transcriptional regulation in luteinizing bovine theca cells. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 4, 64-(2006)

142. N. Sher, N. Yivgi-Ohana, and J. Orly: Transcriptional regulation of the cholesterol side chain cleavage

cytochrome P450 gene (CYP11A1) revisited: binding of GATA, cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate response element-binding protein and activating protein (AP)-1 proteins to a distal novel cluster of cis-regulatory elements potentiates AP-2 and steroidogenic factor-1-dependent gene expression in the rodent placenta and ovary. *Mol Endocrinol* 21, 948-962 (2007)

143. C.K. Ho and J.F. Strauss, III: Activation of the control reporter plasmids pRL-TK and pRL-SV40 by multiple GATA transcription factors can lead to aberrant normalization of transfection efficiency. *BMC Biotechnol* 4, 10-(2004)

144. J.R. Wood, V.L. Nelson, C. Ho, E. Jansen, C.Y. Wang, M. Urbanek, J.M. McAllister, S. Mosselman, and J.F. Strauss, III: The molecular phenotype of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) theca cells and new candidate PCOS genes defined by microarray analysis. *J Biol Chem* 278, 26380-26390 (2003)

145. M. Begeot, U. Shetty, M. Kilgore, M. Waterman, and E. Simpson: Regulation of expression of the CYP11A (P450scc) gene in bovine ovarian luteal cells by forskolin and phorbol esters. *J Biol Chem* 268, 17317-17325 (1993)

146. R.J. Urban, M.A. Shupnik, and Y.H. Bodenburg: Insulinlike growth factor-I increases expression of the porcine P-450 cholesterol side chain cleavage gene through a GC-rich domain. *J Biol Chem* 269, 25761-25769 (1994)

147. R.J. Urban, Y. Bodenburg, A. Kurosky, T.G. Wood, and S. Gasic: Polypyrimidine tract-binding protein-associated splicing factor is a negative regulator of transcriptional activity of the porcine p450scc insulin-like growth factor response element. *Mol Endocrinol* 14, 774-782 (2000)

148. R.J. Urban and Y. Bodenburg: PTB-associated splicing factor regulates growth factor-stimulated gene expression in mammalian cells. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 283, E794-E798 (2002)

149. A.H. Payne, I.G. Abbaszade, T.R. Clarke, P.A. Bain, and C.H. Park: The multiple murine 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase isoforms: structure, function, and tissue- and developmentally specific expression. *Steroids* 62, 169-175 (1997)

150. A.J. Conley, M.A. Kaminski, S.A. Dubowsky, A. Jablonka-Shariff, D.A. Redmer, and L.P. Reynolds: Immunohistochemical localization of 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase and P450 17 alpha-hydroxylase during follicular and luteal development in pigs, sheep, and cows. *Biol Reprod* 52, 1081-1094 (1995)

151. K.J. Teerds and J.H. Dorrington: Immunohistochemical localization of 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in the rat ovary during follicular development and atresia. *Biol Reprod* 49, 989-996 (1993)

152. W. Yuan and M.C. Lucy: Messenger ribonucleic acid expression for growth hormone receptor, luteinizing

hormone receptor, and steroidogenic enzymes during the estrous cycle and pregnancy in porcine and bovine corpora lutea. *Domest Anim Endocrinol* 13, 431-444 (1996)

153. P.J. Chedrese, D. Zhang, V. Luu-The, F. Labrie, A. Juorio, and B.D. Murphy: Regulation of mRNA expression of 3 beta-hydroxy-5-ene steroid dehydrogenase in porcine granulosa cells in culture: a role for the protein kinase-C pathway. *Mol Endocrinol* 4, 1532-1538 (1990)

154. A.K. Voss and J.E. Fortune: Levels of messenger ribonucleic acid for cholesterol side-chain cleavage cytochrome P-450 and 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in bovine preovulatory follicles decrease after the luteinizing hormone surge. *Endocrinology* 132, 888-894 (1993)

155. D.S. Keeney and J.I. Mason: Expression of testicular 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta 5-4-isomerase: regulation by luteinizing hormone and forskolin in Leydig cells of adult rats. *Endocrinology* 130, 2007-2015 (1992)

156. A.H. Kaynard, L.M. Periman, J. Simard, and M.H. Melner: Ovarian 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase and sulfated glycoprotein-2 gene expression are differentially regulated by the induction of ovulation, pseudopregnancy, and luteolysis in the immature rat. *Endocrinology* 130, 2192-2200 (1992)

157. C.L. Chaffin, G.A. Dissen, and R.L. Stouffer: Hormonal regulation of steroidogenic enzyme expression in granulosa cells during the peri-ovulatory interval in monkeys. *Mol Hum Reprod* 6, 11-18 (2000)

158. D.A. Magoffin and S.R. Weitsman: Insulin-like growth factor-I stimulates the expression of 3 betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase messenger ribonucleic acid in ovarian theca-interstitial cells. *Biol Reprod* 48, 1166-1173 (1993)

159. C. Martel, C. Labrie, J. Couet, E. Dupont, C. Trudel, V. Luu-The, M. Takahashi, G. Pelletier, and F. Labrie: Effects of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) and prolactin (PRL) on 3 beta-hydroxy-5-ene-steroid dehydrogenase/delta 5-delta 4 isomerase (3 beta-HSD) expression and activity in the rat ovary. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 72, R7-13 (1990)

160. E.A. McGee, C. Sawetawan, I. Bird, W.E. Rainey, and B.R. Carr: The effect of insulin and insulin-like growth factors on the expression of steroidogenic enzymes in a human ovarian thecal-like tumor cell model. *Fertil Steril* 65, 87-93 (1996)

161. S. Leers-Sucheta, K. Morohashi, J.I. Mason, and M.H. Melner: Synergistic activation of the human type II 3betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta5-delta4 isomerase promoter by the transcription factor steroidogenic factor-1/adrenal 4-binding protein and phorbol ester. *J Biol Chem* 272, 7960-7967 (1997) 162. L.J. Martin, H. Taniguchi, N.M. Robert, J. Simard, J.J. Tremblay, and R.S. Viger: GATA factors and the nuclear receptors, steroidogenic factor 1/liver receptor homolog 1, are key mutual partners in the regulation of the human 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 promoter. *Mol Endocrinol* 19, 2358-2370 (2005)

163. L.J. Martin and J.J. Tremblay: The human 3betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/Delta5-Delta4 isomerase type 2 promoter is a novel target for the immediate early orphan nuclear receptor Nur77 in steroidogenic cells. *Endocrinology* 146, 861-869 (2005)

164. J.J. Lysiak, J.L. Kirby, J.J. Tremblay, R.I. Woodson, M.A. Reardon, L.A. Palmer, and T.T. Turner: Hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha is constitutively expressed in murine Leydig cells and regulates 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type I promoter activity. *J Androl* 30, 146-156 (2009)

165. F.A. Feltus, B. Groner, and M.H. Melner: Stat5mediated regulation of the human type II 3betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta5-delta4 isomerase gene: activation by prolactin. *Mol Endocrinol* 13, 1084-1093 (1999)

166. G. Gibori and J.S. Richards: Dissociation of two distinct luteotropic effects of prolactin: regulation of luteinizing hormone-receptor content and progesterone secretion during pregnancy. *Endocrinology* 102, 767-774 (1978)

167. P.J. Baker, J.A. Sha, M.W. McBride, L. Peng, A.H. Payne, and P.J. O'Shaughnessy: Expression of 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type I and type VI isoforms in the mouse testis during development. *Eur J Biochem* 260, 911-917 (1999)

168. I.G. Abbaszade, J. Arensburg, C.H. Park, J.Z. Kasa-Vubu, J. Orly, and A.H. Payne: Isolation of a new mouse 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase isoform, 3beta-HSD VI, expressed during early pregnancy. *Endocrinology* 138, 1392-1399 (1997)

169. X. Ma, Y. Dong, M.M. Matzuk, and T.R. Kumar: Targeted disruption of luteinizing hormone beta-subunit leads to hypogonadism, defects in gonadal steroidogenesis, and infertility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, 17294-17299 (2004)

170. H. Hiroi, L.K. Christenson, and J.F. Strauss, III: Regulation of transcription of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) gene: temporal and spatial changes in transcription factor binding and histone modification. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 215, 119-126 (2004)

171. J.J. Tremblay and R.S. Viger: Transcription factor GATA-4 is activated by phosphorylation of serine 261 via the cAMP/PKA signaling pathway in gonadal cells. *J Biol Chem* 278, 22128-22135 (2003)

172. P.R. Manna, J.W. Soh, and D.M. Stocco: The involvement of specific PKC isoenzymes in phorbol estermediated regulation of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein expression and steroid synthesis in mouse Leydig cells. *Endocrinology* 152, 313-325 (2011)

173. R. DuQuesnay, C. Wright, A.A. Aziz, G.W. Stamp, G.H. Trew, R.A. Margara, and J.O. White: Infertile women with isolated polycystic ovaries are deficient in endometrial expression of osteopontin but not alphavbeta3 integrin during the implantation window. *Fertil Steril* 91, 489-499 (2009)

174. H. Takemori and M. Okamoto: Regulation of CREBmediated gene expression by salt inducible kinase. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 108, 287-291 (2008)

175. B.P. Schimmer and P.C. White: Minireview: steroidogenic factor 1: its roles in differentiation, development, and disease. *Mol Endocrinol* 24, 1322-1337 (2010)

176. R.S. Viger, S.M. Guittot, M. Anttonen, D.B. Wilson, and M. Heikinheimo: Role of the GATA family of transcription factors in endocrine development, function, and disease. *Mol Endocrinol* 22, 781-789 (2008)

177. N. Sekar, J.C. Garmey, and J.D. Veldhuis: Mechanisms underlying the steroidogenic synergy of insulin and luteinizing hormone in porcine granulosa cells: joint amplification of pivotal sterol-regulatory genes encoding low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor, steroidogenic acute regulatory (StAR) protein and cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage (P450scc) enzyme. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 159, 25-35 (2000)

178. A.K. Voss and J.E. Fortune: Levels of messenger ribonucleic acid for cytochrome P450 17 alpha-hydroxylase and P450 aromatase in preovulatory bovine follicles decrease after the luteinizing hormone surge. *Endocrinology* 132, 2239-2245 (1993)

179. S. Eimerl and J. Orly: Regulation of steroidogenic genes by insulin-like growth factor-1 and follicle-stimulating hormone: differential responses of cytochrome p450 side-chain cleavage, steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, and 3betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/isomerase in rat granulosa cells. *Biol Reprod* 67, 900-910 (2002)

180. E. Mcgee, C. Sawetawan, I. Bird, W.E. Rainey, and B.R. Carr: The effects of insulin on 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase expression in human luteinized granulosa cells. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 2, 535-541 (1995)

181. R.J. Urban, J.C. Garmey, M.A. Shupnik, and J.D. Veldhuis: Follicle-stimulating hormone increases concentrations of messenger ribonucleic acid encoding cytochrome P450 cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme in primary cultures of porcine granulosa cells. *Endocrinology* 128, 2000-2007 (1991)

182. R. Voutilainen, J. Tapanainen, B.C. Chung, K.J. Matteson, and W.L. Miller: Hormonal regulation of P450scc (20,22-desmolase) and P450c17 (17 alpha-

hydroxylase/17,20-lyase) in cultured human granulosa cells. *J Clin Endo Metab* 63, 202-207 (1986)

183. F. Chuzel, A.M. Clark, O. Avallet, and J.M. Saez: Transcriptional regulation of the lutropin/human choriogonadotropin receptor and three enzymes of steroidogenesis by growth factors in cultured pig Leydig cells. *Eur J Biochem* 239, 8-16 (1996)

184. L. Devoto, L.K. Christenson, J.M. McAllister, A. Makrigiannakis, and J.F. Strauss, III: Insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I and -II modulate human granulosa-lutein cell steroidogenesis: enhancement of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) expression. *Mol Hum Reprod* 5, 1003-1010 (1999)

185. T.A. Winters, J.A. Hanten, and J.D. Veldhuis: *In* situ amplification of the cytochrome P-450 cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme mRNA in single porcine granulosa cells by IGF-1 and FSH acting alone or in concert. *Endocrine* 9, 57-63 (1998)

186. R. Mamluk, Y. Greber, and R. Meidan: Hormonal regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid expression for steroidogenic factor-1, steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, and cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage in bovine luteal cells. *Biol Reprod* 60, 628-634 (1999)

187. N. Pescador, D.M. Stocco, and B.D. Murphy: Growth factor modulation of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein and luteinization in the pig ovary. *Biol Reprod* 60, 1453-1461 (1999)

188. R. Rusovici, Y.Y. Hui, and H.A. LaVoie: Epidermal growth factor-mediated inhibition of folliclestimulating hormone-stimulated StAR gene expression in porcine granulosa cells is associated with reduced histone H3 acetylation. *Biol Reprod* 72, 862-871 (2005)

189. M. Shimada, I. Hernandez-Gonzalez, I. Gonzalez-Robayna, and J.S. Richards: Paracrine and autocrine regulation of epidermal growth factor-like factors in cumulus oocyte complexes and granulosa cells: key roles for prostaglandin synthase 2 and progesterone receptor. *Mol Endocrinol* 20, 1352-1365 (2006)

190. J.A. Elvin, A.T. Clark, P. Wang, N.M. Wolfman, and M.M. Matzuk: Paracrine actions of growth differentiation factor-9 in the mammalian ovary. *Mol Endocrinol* 13, 1035-1048 (1999)

191. N. Yamamoto, L.K. Christenson, J.M. McAllister, and J.F. Strauss, III: Growth differentiation factor-9 inhibits 3'5'-adenosine monophosphate-stimulated steroidogenesis in human granulosa and theca cells. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 87, 2849-2856 (2002)

192. F.T. Shi, A.P. Cheung, C. Klausen, H.F. Huang, and P.C. Leung: Growth differentiation factor 9 reverses activin A suppression of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein expression and progesterone production in human granulosa-lutein cells. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 95, E172-E180 (2010)

193. D.B. Hales and A.H. Payne: Glucocorticoid-mediated repression of P450scc mRNA and de novo synthesis in cultured Leydig cells. *Endocrinology* 124, 2099-2104 (1989)

194. H. Schwarzenbach, P.R. Manna, D.M. Stocco, G. Chakrabarti, and A.K. Mukhopadhyay: Stimulatory effect of progesterone on the expression of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein in MA-10 Leydig cells. *Biol Reprod* 68, 1054-1063 (2003)

195. C.L. Swan, M.C. Agostini, P.M. Bartlewski, V. Feyles, R.J. Urban, and P.J. Chedrese: Effects of progestins on progesterone synthesis in a stable porcine granulosa cell line: control of transcriptional activity of the cytochrome p450 side-chain cleavage gene. *Biol Reprod* 66, 959-965 (2002)

196. S.J. Heggland, S.A. Signs, and J.R. Stalvey: Testosterone decreases 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-isomerase messenger ribonucleic acid in cultured mouse Leydig cells by a strain-specific mechanism. *J Androl* 18, 646-655 (1997)

197. Y.J. Chen, Q. Feng, and Y.X. Liu: Expression of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein and luteinizing hormone receptor and their regulation by tumor necrosis factor alpha in rat corpora lutea. *Biol Reprod* 60, 419-427 (1999)

198. C. Mauduit, F. Gasnier, C. Rey, M.A. Chauvin, D.M. Stocco, P. Louisot, and M. Benahmed: Tumor necrosis factoralpha inhibits leydig cell steroidogenesis through a decrease in steroidogenic acute regulatory protein expression. *Endocrinology* 139, 2863-2868 (1998)

199. J.D. Veldhuis, J.C. Garmey, R.J. Urban, L.M. Demers, and B.B. Aggarwal: Ovarian actions of tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNF alpha): pleiotropic effects of TNF alpha on differentiated functions of untransformed swine granulosa cells. *Endocrinology* 129, 641-648 (1991)

200. T. Lin, D. Wang, M.L. Nagpal, and W. Chang: Recombinant murine tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibits cholesterol side-chain cleavage cytochrome P450 and insulinlike growth factor-I gene expression in rat Leydig cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 101, 111-119 (1994)

201. Y. Xiong and D.B. Hales: The role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the regulation of mouse Leydig cell steroidogenesis. *Endocrinology* 132, 2438-2444 (1993)

202. Y. Xiong and D.B. Hales: Differential effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1 on 3 betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta 5-->delta 4 isomerase expression in mouse Leydig cells. *Endocrine* 7, 295-301 (1997)

203. H. Gao, X.L. Chen, Z.H. Zhang, X.X. Song, Z.Y. Hu, and Y.X. Liu: IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha inhibit expression of TGF-beta-1, its receptors TBETAR-I and

TBETAR-II in the corpus luteum of PMSG/hCG treated rhesus monkey. *Front Biosci* 10, 2496-2503 (2005)

204. C. Mauduit, I. Goddard, V. Besset, E. Tabone, C. Rey, F. Gasnier, F. Dacheux, and M. Benahmed: Leukemia inhibitory factor antagonizes gonadotropin inducedtestosterone synthesis in cultured porcine leydig cells: sites of action. *Endocrinology* 142, 2509-2520 (2001)

205. T. Lin, J. Hu, D. Wang, and D.M. Stocco: Interferongamma inhibits the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein messenger ribonucleic acid expression and protein levels in primary cultures of rat Leydig cells. *Endocrinology* 139, 2217-2222 (1998)

206. M. Orava, R. Voutilainen, and R. Vihko: Interferongamma inhibits steroidogenesis and accumulation of mRNA of the steroidogenic enzymes P450scc and P450c17 in cultured porcine Leydig cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 3, 887-894 (1989)

207. X.L. Chen, H.J. Gao, P. Wei, X.X. Song, Z.Y. Hu, and Y.X. Liu: Regulatory effect of IFN-gamma on expression of TGF-beta 1, T beta R-II, and StAR in corpus luteum of pregnant rhesus monkey. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 24, 435-441 (2003)

208. Y.J. Chen, M.T. Lee, H.C. Yao, P.W. Hsiao, F.C. Ke, and J.J. Hwang: Crucial role of estrogen receptor-alpha interaction with transcription coregulators in folliclestimulating hormone and transforming growth factor beta1 up-regulation of steroidogenesis in rat ovarian granulosa cells. *Endocrinology* 149, 4658-4668 (2008)

209. X. Zheng, C.A. Price, Y. Tremblay, J.G. Lussier, and P.D. Carriere: Role of transforming growth factor-beta1 in gene expression and activity of estradiol and progesteronegenerating enzymes in FSH-stimulated bovine granulosa cells. *Reproduction* 136, 447-457 (2008)

210. T. Minegishi, M. Tsuchiya, T. Hirakawa, K. Abe, K. Inoue, T. Mizutani, and K. Miyamoto: Expression of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) in rat granulosa cells. *Life Sci* 67, 1015-1024 (2000)

211. T. Lin, T.L. Wang, M.L. Nagpal, J.H. Calkins, W.W. Chang, and R. Chi: Interleukin-1 inhibits cholesterol sidechain cleavage cytochrome P450 expression in primary cultures of Leydig cells. *Endocrinology* 129, 1305-1311 (1991)

212. V. Brankin, R.L. Quinn, R. Webb, and M.G. Hunter: Evidence for a functional bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) system in the porcine ovary. *Domest Anim Endocrinol* 28, 367-379 (2005)

213. T. Miyoshi, F. Otsuka, J. Suzuki, M. Takeda, K. Inagaki, Y. Kano, H. Otani, Y. Mimura, T. Ogura, and H. Makino: Mutual regulation of follicle-stimulating hormone signaling and bone morphogenetic protein system in human granulosa cells. *Biol Reprod* 74, 1073-1082 (2006)

214. F. Otsuka, R.K. Moore, and S. Shimasaki: Biological function and cellular mechanism of bone morphogenetic protein-6 in the ovary. *J Biol Chem* 276, 32889-32895 (2001)

215. A. Pierre, C. Pisselet, J. Dupont, B. Mandon-Pepin, D. Monniaux, P. Monget, and S. Fabre: Molecular basis of bone morphogenetic protein-4 inhibitory action on progesterone secretion by ovine granulosa cells. *J Mol Endocrinol* 33, 805-817 (2004)

216. A. Pierre, C. Pisselet, J. Dupont, M. Bontoux, and P. Monget: Bone morphogenetic protein 5 expression in the rat ovary: biological effects on granulosa cell proliferation and steroidogenesis. *Biol Reprod* 73, 1102-1108 (2005)

217. W.S. Lee, F. Otsuka, R.K. Moore, and S. Shimasaki: Effect of bone morphogenetic protein-7 on folliculogenesis and ovulation in the rat. *Biol Reprod* 65, 994-999 (2001)

218. F. Otsuka, S. Yamamoto, G.F. Erickson, and S. Shimasaki: Bone morphogenetic protein-15 inhibits folliclestimulating hormone (FSH) action by suppressing FSH receptor expression. *J Biol Chem* 276, 11387-11392 (2001)

219. Y.C. Chen, R.K. Cochrum, M.T. Tseng, D.T. Ghooray, J.P. Moore, S.J. Winters, and B.J. Clark: Effects of CDB-4022 on Leydig cell function in adult male rats. *Biol Reprod* 77, 1017-1026 (2007)

220. F. Miro, C.D. Smyth, P.F. Whitelaw, M. Milne, and S.G. Hillier: Regulation of 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase delta 5/delta 4-isomerase and cholesterol side-chain cleavage cytochrome P450 by activin in rat granulosa cells. *Endocrinology* 136, 3247-3252 (1995)

221. M. Tena-Sempere, P.R. Manna, F.P. Zhang, L. Pinilla, L.C. Gonzalez, C. Dieguez, I. Huhtaniemi, and E. Aguilar: Molecular mechanisms of leptin action in adult rat testis: potential targets for leptin-induced inhibition of steroidogenesis and pattern of leptin receptor messenger ribonucleic acid expression. *J Endocrinol* 170, 413-423 (2001)

222. Y.M. Lin, M.Y. Liu, S.L. Poon, S.F. Leu, and B.M. Huang: Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone-I and -II stimulate steroidogenesis in prepubertal murine Leydig cells *in vitro*. *Asian J Androl* 10, 929-936 (2008)

223. X.M. Li, A.V. Juorio, and B.D. Murphy: Prostaglandins alter the abundance of messenger ribonucleic acid for steroidogenic enzymes in cultured porcine granulosa cells. *Biol Reprod* 48, 1360-1366 (1993)

224. X.C. Tian, A.K. Berndtson, and J.E. Fortune: Changes in levels of messenger ribonucleic acid for cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage and 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase during prostaglandin F2 alpha-induced luteolysis in cattle. *Biol Reprod* 50, 349-356 (1994)

225. R. Rekawiecki, M. Nowik, and J. Kotwica: Stimulatory effect of LH, PGE2 and progesterone on StAR protein, cytochrome P450 cholesterol side chain cleavage and 3beta hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase gene expression in bovine luteal cells. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* 78, 169-184 (2005)

226. P.R. Manna, M. Tena-Sempere, and I.T. Huhtaniemi: Molecular mechanisms of thyroid hormone-stimulated steroidogenesis in mouse leydig tumor cells. Involvement of the steroidogenic acute regulatory (StAR) protein. *J Biol Chem* 274, 5909-5918 (1999)

227. P.R. Manna, J. Kero, M. Tena-Sempere, P. Pakarinen, D.M. Stocco, and I.T. Huhtaniemi: Assessment of mechanisms of thyroid hormone action in mouse Leydig cells: regulation of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, steroidogenesis, and luteinizing hormone receptor function. *Endocrinology* 142, 319-331 (2001)

228. P.R. Manna, T. El-Hefnawy, J. Kero, and I.T. Huhtaniemi: Biphasic action of prolactin in the regulation of murine Leydig tumor cell functions. *Endocrinology* 142, 308-318 (2001)

3beta-hydroxysteroid Abbreviations: 3beta-HSD: dehvdrogenase/delta4-delta5 isomerase, AP-1: activator protein 1, ARR19: androgen receptor corepressor-19 kDa, BMP: bone morphogenic protein, C/EBP: CCAAT/enhancer binding protein, cAMP: 3'-5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate, CBP: CREB-binding protein, ChIP: chromatin immunoprecipitation, CRE: consensus cAMP response element, CREB: cyclic AMP response element binding protein, CREM: CRE modulator, CRS: cAMP response sequences, CYP11A1: P450scc gene, DAX-1: dosage-sensitive sex reversal, adrenal hypoplasia critical region, on chromosome X, gene 1, Dlx5: distal-less homeobox 5, EGF: epidermal growth factor, ERK1/2: extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2, FGF: fibroblast growth factor, FSH: follicle stimulating hormone, FOXL2: forkhead box protein L2, FOXO1: forkhead box protein O1, Fra: Fos-related antigen, GDF-9: growth differentiation factor-9. GIOT-1: gonadotropin-inducible ovarian transcription factor-1, GnRH: gonadotropin releasing hormone, GRIP1: glucocorticoid receptor-interacting protein 1, hCG: human chorionic gonadotropin, HSD3B: gene(s) coding for 3beta-HSD, IGF: insulin-like growth factor, IGFRE: insulin-like growth factor response element, IL-1: interleukin 1, KLF: Kruppel-like factor, LDL: low density lipoprotein, LIF: leukemia inhibitory factor, LRH-1/NR5A2: liver receptor homologue-1, LH: luteinizing hormone, LXR: liver X receptor, LXRE: liver X receptor response element, mLTC-1: murine Leydig tumor cells, N-CoR: nuclear receptor corepressor, NF-Y: nuclear transcription factor Y, NR4A: nuclear receptor 4A subgroup, NR5A: nuclear receptor 5A subgroup, P450c17alpha: cytochrome P450 17alphahydroxylase/17,20-lyase, P450scc: cytochrome P450 cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme, PGE2: prostaglandin E2, PGF2: prostaglandin F2, PKA: protein kinase A, PKC: protein kinase C, PMA: phorbol-12myristate-13-acetate, PSF: polypyrimidine tract-binding protein-associated splicing factor, Preg: Pregnenolone, Prog: progesterone, SCF: stem cell factor, SF-1/NR5A1: steroidogenic factor 1, Sp1: stimulatory protein 1, SREBP:

sterol regulatory element binding protein, SRE: sterol response element, StAR: steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, STARD1: steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene, STAT: signal transducers and activators of transcription, TGF: transforming growth factor, TNF: tumor necrosis factor, TRE: phorbol ester response element, VIP: vasoactive intestinal peptide, YY1: Yin Yang-1

Key Words: STARD1, CYP11A1, HSD3B1, HSD3B2, Hsd3b6, Steroidogenesis, Promoter, GATA, SF-1, LRH-1, Sp1, CREB, CREM, AP-1, DAX-1, C/EBP, Nur77, SREBP, YY1, NR4A, Stat5, HIF-1alpha, LXR, RXR/RAR, Testis, Ovary, Granulosa, Leydig, Luteal, Review

Send correspondence to: Holly A. LaVoie, Dept. of Cell Biology and Anatomy, University of South Carolina School of Medicine, Columbia, SC 29208, Tel: 803-216-3817, Fax: 803-216-3846, E-mail: holly.lavoie@uscmed.sc.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol17.htm